
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on 14 February 2022 

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Tuesday, 22 February 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
 

Councillor David Bellamy, Councillor John Dawson, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor 
Gloria Johnson, Councillor Philip Knowles, Councillor Charmaine Morgan and 
Councillor Susan Sandall 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  
SKDC YouTube Channel 

 

 

1.   Comments from members of the public 
To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s discretion. 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of interests 
 

 

4.   Action notes of the meeting held on 3 December 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

5.   Action notes from Joint Scrutiny - Deepings Leisure Centre on 30 
November 2021 
 

(Pages 11 - 26) 

6.   Updates from previous meeting 
There were no actions to consider from the meeting held on 3 December 2021. 
 

 

7.   The Post-Brexit South Kesteven Economic Climate 
This report provides an update on current evidence regarding the impact felt by 
South Kesteven’s economy since the implementation period ended and the 
United Kingdom left the European Union Single Market and Customs Union. 
 
 

(Pages 27 - 34) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

 

 
 

8.   The Impact of Covid-19 on South Kesteven 
The report sets out an overview of the impact of Covid-19 on South Kesteven 
District Council and various services and approaches.  It also highlights ongoing 
issues and identifies key lessons learnt to date from Covid-19. 
 

(Pages 35 - 54) 

9.   Finance Monitoring Update - April to December 2021 
To inform Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee of the Council’s forecast 2021/22 financial position as at the 
end of December 2021. 

(Pages 55 - 76) 

   
10.   Work Programme 2021 - 2022 

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2021 – 2022. 
 

(Pages 77 - 79) 

11.   Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstance decides is urgent 
 

 



 
 

Meeting of the 
Finance, Economic Development 
and Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Friday, 3 December 2021, 10.30 
 
Council Chamber – South Kesteven House 
St Peter’s Hill, Grantham.  NG31 6PZ 

 

 

 

 
Committee Members present 

 

 
Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor Mark Whittington (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor David Bellamy 
Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
Councillor Susan Sandall 
Councillor Jacky Smith  
 

 

Cabinet Members in attendance 
 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste) 
 
Officers in attendance  
 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 
Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive) 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Alison Hall-Wright (Head of Finance) 
Ben Russell (Performance Lead) 
Sarah Downs (Democratic Services Officer) 

 

 

 
35. Comments from members of the public 

 
No comments from members of the public were received. 
 

 

3

Agenda Item 4



 
 

36. Apologies for absence 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors Gloria Johnson and 
Philip Knowles. 
 
It was noted that Councillor Jacky Smith would be substituting for Councillor Gloria 
Johnson. 

 
37. Disclosure of interests 

 
No disclosures of interest were received. 

 
38. Action notes of the meeting held on 7 September 2021 

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the action notes from the meeting 
held on 7 September 2021 were a correct record. 

 
39. Updates from previous meeting 

 
Members noted the action sheet from the meeting held on 7 September 2021.   

 
 

40. Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2021/22 (Mid-Year Update) 
 

The Committee received a report on the Corporate Plan Key Performance 
Indicators 2021/22 and a review of the Corporate Plan Actions.  Following a review 
of the Corporate Plan Actions and their associated KPIs, revised measures were 
proposed for Members’ consideration. 
 
The South Kesteven Corporate Plan 2020 – 2023 was approved by Council on 1 
October 2020, where it was agreed that Scrutiny Committees would develop 
relevant KPIs and targets.  October 2021 was the first anniversary of the Corporate 
Plan and Members were asked to consider amending actions and KPIs in line with 
the annual review. 
 
Appendix 1 to the report outlined overall performance against the 13 actions due, 
as well as 35 sub-measures contained within those.  Of those actions, 6 were rated 
green, 2 were amber and 1 was red.  The Assistant Chief Executive provided 
details of the actions, having clarified that there were two elements to the report; in 
addition to looking back at performance management, the report proposed KPIs 
and targets for the coming year. 
 
During discussion, Members raised the following points: 

 

• The plan targeting ‘Delivery of Growth of our Economy (7)’ was labelled as a 
red action and believed to potentially not be achievable.  Concern was raised 
that such an action may be removed from the plan as undelivered.  A Member 
requested information on how the decision would be made around other 

4



 
 

options for use of the Grantham cinema site and emphasised that they 
believed Councillors should have been involved in that process. 

 

• It was noted that Members were disappointed that Lincoln University were no 
longer able to make use of the Grantham cinema site.  Arrangements were 
deemed to be ‘on hold’ and a Member asked why, after two years of 
negotiations, could the University not be clear and confirm their position.  Until 
this has happened, the Council was not able to move on to other options.  It 
was clarified by the Deputy Chief Executive that it was clear that the University 
were not now interested in the site and that other options should be explored. 

 

• A Member asked a question about the potential income loss of the Grantham 
cinema site remaining empty?  This Assistant Director for Finance responded 
to this question. 

 

• Members agreed that other potential uses of the Grantham cinema site should 
be explored.  A Member highlighted that Grantham has not had a town centre-
based community centre which could have been considered. 

 

• Clarity was requested on the target for apprentices as it appeared the Council 
was behind target.  Why had this not been achieved when the target was set 
quite low and what were the obstacles?  It was outlined that this target was on 
track as it was above the mid-year target and it is expected that the end of 
year target would be achieved. 

 

• A Member raised a point that several actions within the report were generic 
and non-specific.  These targets were considered to be easily achievable due 
to their lack of structure.  The Member further informed that they would like to 
see more results with the red actions and asked if some of the actions were 
more appropriate for other Committees or for the Senior Management Team. 

 
The Assistant Chief Executive clarified that the aim of the report was to address 
issues and tackle them.  If having explored all options and no solution was found, it 
was considered appropriate to remove the target.  The Officer further informed that 
if Members considered any action were for other Committees, it would be ensured 
that Officers would liaise with the relevant Chairman.  
 
It was further clarified by the Deputy Chief Executive that the plan was to work with 
Lincoln University.  The report confirmed that the Council would not be able to work 
with the University in regard to the Grantham site since circumstances changed due 
to the Pandemic and Lincoln University changed the way they work to significantly 
online and therefore did not wish to take up tenancy of the site.  
 
A Member added that as Lincoln University now provided many courses online the 
need for a physical site in Grantham was significantly reduced. 
 
In reference to Councillors being involved in decisions, it was explained that the 
performance reporting and targets within the Corporate Plan drove the agenda of 

5



 
 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committees.  Comments from Committee Members 
were carried forward and informed the work programmes of future meetings. 

 
The Assistant Director of Finance informed the Committee that there had been no 
formal lease in place with the University and they were able to modify their business 
plans in respect of occupancy of the site.  The potential income from the use of the 
space by the University had not been built into base budgets due to the high level of 
uncertainty surrounding the potential usage.     
 
AGREED: 

 
The Committee noted the contents of the 2021/22 mid-year performance. 
report. 
 
DECISION: 
 
Supported amending the Corporate Plan Actions and Key Performance 
Indicators that fell within the scope of the Committee, in line with the 
outcomes of the review. 
 
That the options related to the cinema site are added to the work programme 
and a report is brought to a future committee meeting. 

 
 

41. Budget Monitoring Report - Period 1 April - 30 September 2021 
 

The Assistant Director of Finance presented a report that provided an update on the 
Council’s financial position during the current financial year.  The report was to 
monitor and forecast the budget against the current economic conditions that were 
facing the Council. 
 
It was noted that there was a slight deterioration in the deficit but the forecasting 
work that has recently been undertaken during October was more positive and it 
was expected that the Council would progress to a reduced deficit position at March 
2022.   The Committee were informed that income reduction rather than over-
expenditure was the reason for the deficit as key income areas are still performing 
below budgeted levels.  It was confirmed that the Government had introduced an 
income-loss compensation scheme which finished after the first quarter of the 
current financial year so further income losses would directly affect the Council’s 
overall finances. 
 
It was explained that staff were continuing to work on a hybrid basis, between home 
and office and this had reduced some costs such as travel claims for business and 
postage and printing costs.  A reduction of £92,000 had been made in this respect 
and it was expected this reduced level of expenditure would continue in the future.   
 
In reference to collection rates, the Assistant Director of Finance confirmed that the 
collection was in line with targeted profile.  However, it was acknowledged that 

6



 
 

Business rates collectable amounts had been greatly affected due to Government 
changes in reliefs awarded to eligible businesses.   
 
During discussion, Members raised the following points: 
 

• Income received from Grantham car parks had been particularly low (and to a 
lesser extent, Stamford), even though there had been a 10p increase since 
April 2021.  A Member asked if the reduction in income received was purely 
due to the Pandemic or were charge increases also an influence?     

 

• It was noted that car park payment machines were frequently out of use and 
this was perhaps a further factor in the low usage levels.  It was further 
acknowledged that people were likely to have tried to park in nearby streets to 
avoid charges so as to save money and even pre-pandemic, people were 
increasingly shopping online rather than travelling into town centres. 

 

• A Member asked if a figure for the cost of Covid to the Council could be 
confirmed to date. 

 

• A Member noted that the pandemic would most likely influence revenues for 
years to come and a period of adjustment should be expected. 

 

• A Member informed that the financial risk register should have been reviewed 
and updated to ensure it continued to include all of the relevant financial risks 
facing the Council.   

 

• A Member asked about the housing new build programme and enquired as to 
what lessons had been learnt from the Authority’s inability to deliver the plans. 

 

• Was the Government Support during the pandemic sufficient and was any 
further funding likely to be made available in the event of a further wave of 
infection? 

 
The Director of Housing and Property acknowledged that as a strategic housing 
Authority, an ambitious programme was desirable but plans had to be realistic in 
terms of financial capacity to deliver and the situation had changed within the last 
year or two.   
 
The Assistant Director of Finance explained to the Committee that it was not 
necessarily possible to separate and clarify the reasons for the income reduction 
particularly the distinction between the pandemic impact and the adverse impact of 
the charge increases.  April 2021 saw an increase in car park charges but the 
country had been in lockdown at this time.  It was confirmed that the impact of 
income losses was consistent with other authorities hence the need for the 
Government’s income losses scheme.  The Officer further confirmed that when 
charges were previously increased, such a reduction hadn’t materialised, which 
appeared to suggest that Covid had some adverse impact on revenue levels.  

 

7



 
 

It was explained that a definitive figure confirming the overall cost of the pandemic 
would be difficult to show accurately as behaviours of the public have changed in a 
number of ways and the reasons were difficult to measure.  However, subjective 
calculations could be carried out.  Going forward, budget levels were to be adjusted 
taking into consideration the current economic and customer usage profile. 
 
The Committee were informed that the Income Loss Scheme formed by the 
Government was not sufficient to cover all Local Authority losses.  It amounted to 
the reimbursement of 75p for every £1 lost. 

 
AGREED: 
 
a) The Committee reviewed and noted the forecast 2021/2022 outturn 

position for the General Fund and HRA Revenue and Capital budgets as 
at the end of September 2021 and identified any variances that required 
further action or investigation. 

 
b) The Committee recommended any specific actions or interventions that 

should be considered in order to reduce the General Fund forecast 
deficit. 
 

42. Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 - Consultation 
 

The Council Tax Benefit system was abolished on 31 March 2013 and replaced by 
the Local Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) which can be determined locally by 
the Billing Authority having had due consultation with precepting authorities, key 
stakeholders, and residents.  The scheme currently provides 80% entitlement for 
working age claimants. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive presented a report for the Committee to review 
consultation responses and comment on the proposed changes to the 
Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23, as well as proposals made in 
relation to the Discretionary Hardship Fund, discount for care leavers and Special 
Constables. 

 
During discussion, Members raised the following points: 
 

• It was noted that the lack of progress with the Special Constables Discount 
Scheme was disappointing.  When will the discount be delivered? 

 

• The Discount Scheme seemed to be a ‘postcode lottery’ as it was unavailable 
to some residents in certain areas within the County. 

 
An Officer confirmed that there was updated information in respect of the Special 
Constable Discount Scheme available the Council’s website.  All applicants were 
expected to prove eligibility and would then receive the benefit retrospectively for 
the past year.  This would be the process for future years too should the scheme 
continue each year. 

8



 
 

 
It was explained that as each billing Authority was responsible for their District 
decision, the County Council were unable to impose a county-wide billing process 
and sadly, this had led to what was perceived as a ‘postcode lottery’ for applicants. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive confirmed that the Council Tax recovery was the  
responsibility of District Councils under the two tier Local Government system. 
 
DECISION: 
 
That the Committee recommend to Cabinet the Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme for 2022/23 after taking into consideration the recent consultation. 

 
43. Rent Guarantee Scheme 

 
This report aimed to provide the Committee with a summary of issues in the context 
of homelessness within the district, with a focus on the Private Rented Sector and 
Rent Guarantee Schemes.   
 
As with most stock-retained local authorities, South Kesteven District Council 
Could not meet the housing demand within the district solely within its own housing 
stock. This was of importance given the Council’s duties under the relevant 
homelessness legislation to provide accommodation and to discharge its 
homelessness prevention duties, most significantly the Housing Act 1996 and the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 
 
The Director of Housing and Property confirmed that the Pandemic had an impact 
on an increase in homelessness within South Kesteven alongside a backlog of 
applications influenced by the Government eviction ban during lockdowns. 
 
Councillor Mark Whittington informed that he would not take part in the debate, 
declaring an interest as a private landlord. 

 
Councillor John Dawson also declared an interest as the landlord of both 
commercial and private property. 
 
During discussion, Members raised the following points: 
 

• It was noted that the Rent Guarantee Scheme was a very important ‘safety 
net’ for the Council as it depended on private landlords and the reduction in 
availability was an issue. 

 

• Has the Local Authority seen a 50% increase in homelessness or have these 
figures been impacted by a reduction in private landlords? 

 
An Officer confirmed there had been a backlog in actioning the eviction process and 
Section 21 Notices due to restrictions during the Pandemic which had impacted the 

9



 
 

figures.  The Rent Guarantee Scheme had given Officers an extra tool to use in 
application of the process. 
 
 
AGREED: 

 
The Committee noted the contents of the report in terms of current 
homelessness issues within South Kesteven. 
 
DECISION: 
 
The Committee recommended further work to research the risks and benefits 
of local authority rent guarantee schemes. 

 
44. Work Programme 2021 - 2022 

 
The Committee noted the contents of its Work Programme 2021 – 2022. 
 
It was noted that the Chairman and Vice-Chairman would meet with the Democratic 
Services Officer after the meeting to consider the Work Programme in greater 
detail. 

 
45. Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstance 

decides is urgent 
 

There were none. 
 

46. Close of meeting 
 

The Chairman closed the meeting at 12.05. 
 
 

10



 

 

Minutes  
 

Joint Scrutiny  
 

Tuesday, 30 November 2021 
 

Council Chamber - South Kesteven 
House, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 

 

 

Joint Scrutiny Members present 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Graham Jeal 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Penny Robins 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Jill Thomas 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
 

Other Members in attendance 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Breda – Rae Griffin  
Councillor Sue Woolley 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
 

Cabinet Members in attendance 
Councillor Kelham Cooke (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Barry Dobson (Cabinet Member for Leisure) 
Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property) 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope – Bellew (Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy) 
 
Officers in attendance 
Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer) 
Karen Whitfield (Head of Arts and Leisure) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

11

Agenda Item 5



 

1. Apologies for absence 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Amanda Wheeler, Councillor 
David Bellamy, Councillor Susan Sandall and Councillor Judy Smith.  

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Amanda 
Wheeler.  

 
Councillor Hilary Westropp had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor David 
Bellamy.  

 
Councillor Helen Crawford had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Judy 
Smith.  

 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Susan 
Sandall. 

 
2. Declarations of interest 

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter declared that he had been a user of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre and his family continue to be members of the Deepings Swimming Club. 

 
Councillor Phil Dilks highlighted that the Deepings Leisure Centre was in the 
Council ward where he lived. He declared that he was a Parish Councillor that had 
an interest in the Leisure Centre and that he had been elected as a County 
Councillor for The Deepings East Division. Councillor Dilks also held a family 
membership at the Deepings Leisure Centre when it was open and had been an 
occasional user of the Centre for over 40 years.  

 
Further to a question, the Leader of the Council declared that the Conservative 
Group had not been ‘whipped’ in relation to this item. 

 
The Deputy Group Leader for the Independent Group declared that the Independent 
Group had also not been ‘whipped’.   

 
3. Public Speaking 

 
Eileen Gray 

 
Eileen Gray made the following statement: 
 
“I am a resident of Market Deeping and long-term user of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre for over forty years.  In July when the Leisure Centre was closed, forty years 
of my life was taken away from me.  I have used the Centre as a member of staff, a 
teacher, a member and instructor of the life-saving club and many other avenues.  I 
am heartbroken that this has happened.  I swam for an hour a day and now have to 
go to Spalding to continue this.  People using this facility include an amputee, an 

12



octogenarian, a lady in remission of cancer and a carer receiving one hour respite 
from caring.  Why are these people being denied these facilities.  Perhaps you can 
tell me?” 

 
Jack Little 

 
Jack Little made the following statement: 

 

“I am a resident of Deeping St James and have been for the last decade and I have 
enjoyed the facilities throughout that time.  Sadly since 2013 there has been no 
dialogue and virtually zero action regarding a replacement Leisure Centre.  I am 
pleased that today there are positive options on the table and I would implore 
Councillors to select option 3 as the best investment for the future – the next 25 
years.  Option 2 may seem like a nice option, costing less, however, we know that 
in 20 years’ time there will need to be a plan in place for a new Leisure Centre.  I 
have spent a lifetime in sport since the age of seven and until now as a coach, 
participant, competitor and member of various club committees.  It is really 
important that this facility is made available again as soon as humanly possible.  I 
see that target dates have been set, which is good.  I am also very pleased to see 
that the project application with the football foundation is also contained within the 
papers, which is direly required.  Local team players are leaving for other training 
facilities with floodlights.  I also note that a core part of the proposals is dependent 
on an agreed lease of land by schools and I do hope this is taken incredibly 
seriously as agreement is vital for success.” 

  
Peter Gray 

 
Peter Gray made the following statement: 

 

“All of the three options that have been thrown into the arena are a distraction from 
what is going on.  It tends to divide and conquer people as you get different views 
coming through.  Initially I thought that the Leisure Centre should get repaired 
because it is needed now.  In hindsight, I thought that maybe I was being selfish.  I 
am in my 75th year and use the Leisure Centre four times a week for swimming.  
However, this doesn’t affect just me, there are kids within the swimming club that 
start to blossom and have a three year window to access the best training possible 
to make the most of their opportunities.  I am concerned also about the lack of 
disclosure from involved private companies.  This is a serious issue.” 

 
Robbie Tyler 

 
Robbie Tyler made the following statement: 

 
“I’ve been in The Deepings all my life, I am a martial arts trainer and fitness 
instructor so am heavily involved in the leisure industry.  The closure of the 
Deepings Leisure Centre has impacted our club massively.  We train two to three 
classes a night, Monday to Friday.  We have gradings, seminars and other things 
going on.  We have been able to find a small space to continue classes but not to 
the same level as before.  We have had students get to world championship level 

13



and those opportunities will start dropping back if we don’t get facilities soon.  We 
are not the only club affected, some have had to move areas and some clubs have 
been lost.  The quicker these facilities can return, the better.” 

 
4. Deepings Leisure Centre 

 
The Joint Scrutiny Committee considered a comprehensive report which provided 
Members with the background relating to The Deepings Leisure Centre and options 
available relating to the provision of a Leisure Centre in The Deepings. 

 
In presenting the report, Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Leisure, 
made the following points: 

 

•   Investing in high quality leisure facilities across the District was a key part of the 
Council’s corporate ambition and a vital part of achieving this was good quality 
facilities which were sustainable and met customer expectations. 

•   He had been the Portfolio Holder for Leisure since January last year and was 
personally committed to delivering on the ambitious leisure improvement plans 
which this Council had previously announced. As part of this, the Deepings area 
was prioritised for investment due to the age and condition of the existing Leisure 
Centre. 

•   Over the course of the last two years, a significant amount of work had been 
undertaken to identify the feasibility of providing a New Leisure Centre for the 
Deepings area. The report documented the Council’s journey in this respect and 
provided information on each of the schemes considered, together with the resulting 
impact on the Council’s General Fund revenue budgets. 

•   Whilst a new build for the Deepings area was once considered affordable, this was 
sadly no longer the case. 

•   The Council finds itself in extremely challenging financial times. Whilst some of this 
was a direct result of reduced funding from Central Government, the impact of 
Covid-19 on the Council’s finances could not be under-estimated. This has resulted 
in a significant reduction in the Council’s income, and its reserves have been put 
under pressure as it had supported local residents, businesses and staff. The 
Council had to align its diminished resources for the benefit of all residents across 
the District.  That being said, due to the temporary closure of the existing Leisure 
Centre, the Deepings area was currently without any leisure provision. 

•   Since the meeting of Full Council on 2 September a full range of building and land 
surveys had taken place on the existing facility, and experts had been 
commissioned to bring forward options for refurbishment and the associated 
business plans. Four options had been identified, one of which included a full 
remodel and refurbishment of the existing centre which would meet the evidenced 
need, whilst providing residents of the Deepings with a facility which had the look 
and feel of a new centre. 

•   As a refurbishment of this magnitude and cost would still be a significant 
undertaking for the Council, any investment approved would require the Council to 
review its spending priorities to account for the cost of borrowing. No investment 
would be possible, however, without the Council gaining a legal interest in the 

14



existing building. Although there had been good progress, there was still work to do 
in this regard. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure introduced David Rushton from Sports and Leisure 
Consultancy (SLC), who provided details of the work SLC had been undertaking 
with the Council. The work included the formation of LeisureSK Ltd, a Council 
owned company to manage the Council’s Leisure provision, after the contract had 
ceased with the previous provider, OneLife. 

 
Paul Weston of Paul Weston Architects introduced himself to Members and 
provided details of the experience of his company, which included feasibility studies 
working alongside SLC. Options costs that had been prepared were prudent, taking 
into account a timescale and how inflation could have an impact through the project.  

 
The report set out that the Deepings Leisure Centre had been temporarily closed 
since July 2021, due to significant health and safety concerns.  An extraordinary 
meeting of Full Council was held on 2 September 2021 where it was agreed that a 
joint meeting of the Finance, Economic Development & Corporate Services and 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committees would be held to 
consider the future of the Deepings Leisure Centre and make recommendations on 
the preferred options to Cabinet on 7 December 2021. A final decision would be 
taken at a further extraordinary meeting of Full Council, scheduled for 14 December 
2021.  

 
The South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) Corporate Plan (2020-2023) 
recognised the role facilities played to inspire residents to take part in sport and 
physical activity. The Council had four Leisure Centres within its portfolio, which 
helped contribute towards the promotion of Healthy and Stronger Communities.  

 
The Deepings Leisure Centre was built and opened in 1974, since that time it had 
been managed by SKDC, the land and the building were owned by Lincolnshire 
County Council (LCC). There had never been any formal leasehold arrangements in 
place between SKDC and LCC, which meant the responsibilities of each 
organisation had not been documented. The facilities were shared with the 
Deepings School (part of the Anthem Trust), who had use of the sports hall, playing 
fields and swimming pool during term time, with the fee paid for that use equating to 
£35,600 for 2021/22.   

 
In 2014 LCC withdrew its maintenance contribution of £124,000 and notified the 
Council that the land and buildings would be transferred to the Anthem Trust, as 
part of the Academy’s transfer process. Subsequently the Council was advised that 
it was necessary to secure a leasehold interest directly with the Anthem Trust. To 
date the transfer had not been completed and was currently in progress.  
Unfortunately, despite numerous attempts to agree terms, a lease between the 
Anthem Trust and the Council was not in place. This had meant that since 2014 the 
Council had been solely responsible for the maintenance and repair of the Deepings 
Leisure Centre.   

 

15



Previous feasibility work had been undertaken, which was reported to Members in 
2013. Consultants were engaged to identify schemes of refurbishment, should a 
lease be secured. There had been an anticipation that, without investments, the 
existing Leisure Centre would close in 2016.  

 
In 2018 Mace Ltd had been commissioned on behalf of InvestSK Ltd (a Council 
owned company) and undertook an initial assessment of all four of the Leisure 
Centres within the Council’s Portfolio. On 7 March 2019, Cabinet received a report 
titled ‘Enhancing Leisure Opportunities for Everyone’.  The report included the 
results of the feasibility work and a range of options for the development and 
refurbishment of the facilities within the portfolio.  

 
In May 2020, to ensure that a robust structure was in place for the decisions around 
the facilities, a project team was formed. This team included: 
the Chief Executive, Strategic Director for Growth, Section 151 Officer, Director of 
Law and Governance and Head of Leisure. Additionally, a Leisure Improvement 
Board was formed comprising key Cabinet Members; The Leader, Cabinet Member 
for Leisure, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Visitor Economy.   

 
Members received a briefing on 20 October 2020, which provided an update on the 
improvement plans and feasibility work undertaken for the leisure portfolio. The 
briefing also included the scale of work involved and the challenges the Council 
faced in terms of affordability. The Leisure Improvement Board advised Members 
that improvement schemes would need to be prioritised, with the Deepings Leisure 
Centre being the key priority.  

 
In May 2020, the Council commissioned Paul Weston Architect to provide a check 
and challenge to the original feasibility work undertaken by Mace Ltd and to explore 
alternatives.  

 
Supported by SLC, an assessment was undertaken of the local and latent demand 
for a new facility within the Deepings, to assist with the development of any 
business plans. In September 2019 a location had been identified for a replacement 
facility at Linchfield Road Playing Field in Deeping St. James.  

 
The Council undertook work with Sport England, using their Facility Planning Model. 
Taking all information into account, Paul Weston prepared two schemes and a site 
masterplan, which included required facilities, financial planning and a business 
plan.  

 
In late 2020 an opportunity arose to explore an alternative site for a new Deepings 
Leisure Centre, a prominent position within the Northfield Industrial Estate in Market 
Deeping, where the Landis & Gyr building was situated. A feasibility study of the site 
was undertaken, which was compared against the Lichfield Road scheme. The 
study found the building was a good standard, however a number of issues would 
have to be addressed. Members were provided with details of a comparison 
between the two sites which was set out in paragraph 1.47 of the report.  

16



 
During the feasibility work being undertaken, the Council had been advised that 
there may be insufficient demand for a large-scale facility. SLC were therefore 
commissioned to produce a business plan for a smaller scale facility, considering 
local demand.  

 
On 29 July 2021 the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the Council 
and the Cabinet Member for Leisure, using emergency powers within the Council’s 
Constitution at Article 16, closed the Deepings Leisure Centre due to significant 
health and safety concerns. 

 
LCC, as the current owner of the building, carried out an initial condition survey. The 
survey identified that approximately £1.2 million of work would be required to rectify 
some of the identified issues.   

 
Given the previous work around the Leisure Centre, Paul Weston and Caston Cost 
Consultants were commissioned to provide an opinion on LCC’s findings and 
consideration on how to extend the life of the building for a further 25 years. These 
findings were reported to Members at the extraordinary meeting of Full Council, 
held on 2 September 2021.   

 
The closure of the Deepings Leisure Centre had impacted the operation of the 
Deepings School and the delivery of their curriculum. Customers who had used the 
facility had been encouraged to use one of the three other Leisure Centres within 
the District.  

 
Members were provided with details of refurbishment options and anticipated 
timelines, ranging from a basic refurbishment of the existing building to a full 
remodelling and refurbishment. 

 
The Football Foundation had identified the Deepings areas as an area of priority for 
the development of a 3G pitch. Previous discussion had taken place with the 
Football Foundation regarding the opportunity to apply for grant funding to develop 
the pitch on the Linchfield Road Playing Fields. It would be proposed to replace the 
old astroturf pitch with an allocated budget of £700,000, £200,000 of which would 
be funded by the Council, to allow for the match funding required of any application. 
It had been confirmed that the Football Foundation would welcome an application in 
either April or July 2022.  

 
Following the extraordinary meeting of Full Council on 2 September 2021, the 
Leader of LCC had offered to transfer the freehold of the Deepings Leisure Centre 
to the Council for £1. The Council had been keen to explore that possibility, 
however it was proven to not be possible under the provision of the Academies Act. 
A lease between the Anthem Trust and the Council would still require the 
permission of the Department for Education and should it be approved a Service 
Level Agreement would be required.  

 

17



On 14 October 2021 Members were provided with a briefing session which 
presented details of the feasibility work that had been undertaken. Members had 
also been invited to tour the OneNK Centre in North Hykeham, which had 
previously been refurbished. The OneNK Centre was a similar build and age as the 
Deepings Leisure Centre and Paul Weston had been the lead Architect on that 
project.  

 
As this stage of proceedings, commencing debate on the content of the report, the 
Chairman invited questions on sections (a), (b) and (c) on the agenda. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure informed Members that the Landis & Gyr site had 
been sold for a higher price than offered by SKDC this option would no longer be 
available.  

 
Several questions or comments were raised by a Member to the Cabinet Member 
for Leisure, as follows: 

 

•   When had it been first suggested that if the Council had to rely on reserves and 
borrowing the new centre would not be affordable? 

•   Why had a leaflet produced by Councillor Barry Dobson in May 2021 included a 
statement within it that a new leisure centre would be created, with land secured? 

•   Members had not been made aware that in February 2020 the second Mace Report 
had made it clear that previous election promises were unaffordable. 

•   A Cabinet meeting suggested that the Councillor Barry Dobson had attended all 
Leisure Centres within South Kesteven. However, having approached Councillor 
Dobson requesting what date he had attended the Deepings Leisure Centre, he 
reported that he had not visited the Deepings Leisure Centre and stated that it was 
to be demolished.   

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure responded to the questions and comments raised, 
as follows: 

 

•   The Linchfield Road playing fields site had been agreed in principle for a new 
Leisure Centre. At the time of the meeting, the Council had been looking to fund a 
new leisure facility using prudential borrowing, local priority reserves and a capital 
receipt, which would now no longer be possible due to solely having to rely on 
prudential borrowing to fund a new leisure centre, creating a significant revenue 
pressure for SKDC. 

•   The Mace Report had not been commissioned by himself. Questions were raised 
regarding this report at the time and experts were involved to assess the options 
available. The Deepings had been chosen as the preferred site to locate a new 
leisure centre. 

•   He had not visited the Deepings Leisure Centre at that time. He had been made 
aware, however, that the changing rooms needed to be repaired and upgraded. 

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste Services why a new 
centre had never been included within the Medium Term Financial Strategy, which 
would be required, if a new centre had any potential. 

18



 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste Services, stated 
that a new build scheme would only be incorporated into the Council’s budget and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy if relevant scoping and feasibility work had been 
undertaken. The impact of COVID-19 and changes to external funding had affected 
the financial landscape for the Council. 

 
A Member asked the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member for Leisure why the 
Council was no longer able to use the capital receipts, prudential borrowing and 
local priority reserves towards the cost of a new Leisure Centre. 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council, took this opportunity to declare 
that he had trained and used Deepings Leisure Centre over a number of years. 

 
The Leader highlighted the need to balance the way the Council provided leisure 
services across the wider area. He underlined the ambition to replace the leisure 
centre in the Deepings, however, the finance mechanism that had been previously 
used would be around the private sector finance, to which this investment into the 
leisure market had now been diminished.  

 
A Member asked Paul Weston at what point in time had refurbishment options been 
explored rather than new build options and why the Landis and Gyr site had not 
been progressed. 

 
Mr Weston stated that he had prepared the Landis & Gyr option prior to the national 
lockdown. In terms of the sequencing, the refurbishment and remodel options for 
Deepings Leisure Centre, this had been prepared over the past four months.  

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Leisure whether he had noticed the 
condition of the boilers on his visit to the Deepings Leisure Centre. 

 
Councillor Barry Dobson explained that he did not attend the Deepings Leisure 
Centre with other members of the Deepings when the condition of the boilers had 
been highlighted. 

 
A Member, in stating that recovery of the leisure sector was currently at 74%, asked 
David Rushton whether aspects of leisure were recovering from the impact of 
Covid. 

 
Mr Rushton confirmed that swimming was recovering well, particularly swimming 
lessons due to a good level of demand. However, it had not recovered fully 
potentially due to the age profile. The area of concern had been health and fitness 
due to being a lucrative element of a leisure service.  

 
A Member asked the Council’s Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 
Officer the following questions: 

 

19



•   How did the minimum revenue provision work and what impact upon the Council’s 
revenue budget would this have going forward? 

•   Could he explain the financial affordability of a new build and the impact on the rest 
of the District? 

 
The Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer clarified the options 
available in terms of affordability. The different increases of council tax for each 
option were outlined, to which endorsement from residents would be taken into 
account.  

 
A Member asked Paul Weston if a major refurbishment of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre would be the only way forward or is a ‘patch up’ option available to prolong 
the current centres lifespan by five or ten years. 

 
Mr Weston clarified that the ‘patch up’ option was Option A as set out in the report. 
Option A dealt with the building’s failures currently and did not provide any different 
facilities, however, would last 25 years. He highlighted the opportunity for a remodel 
as the current structure of the building and the pool tanks were in good condition. 
By remodelling the current building, it would provide all the facilities of a new build 
but at a lower cost.  

 
A Member sought clarity on the following issues: 

 

•   The viability of new leisure centres in the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

•   The expense of a new leisure centre prior to Covid-19. 

•   The point in which the current leisure centre industry was in turmoil.  

•   Clarity on whether the Cabinet Member for Leisure did attend the Leisure Centre 

and view the boilers. 

•   The use of capital receipts from Stamford. 

•   When architects were investigating Landis & Gyr and the Linchfield Road site, why 

no other options were put forward following a remodel to reduce the cost. 

Councillor Dobson confirmed that he had visited the boiler room in the Deepings 
Leisure Centre and had confirmed that one of the boilers was already defunct, with 
the two boilers being of the same age. 

 
The Chairman invited Members to consider section (d) of the agenda at this stage 
of proceedings. 

 
Councillor Dobson confirmed that the Council had been in discussion with LCC, 
who owned the building, and the lease agreement was ongoing between SKDC and 
the Anthem Trust.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that an agreed Heads of Terms had been 
confirmed with the Anthem Trust which would go to the Trustees for approval in due 
course. It was highlighted that the school did not want to take on the lease of the 
existing building in its current condition. However, an agreement for lease would be 
possible which would rely upon practical completion and specification of the work 

20



intended. The Council would be protected by having a legally binding agreement in 
place.  

 
Members raised concerns as to what could happen in eight years’ time, for 
example, if a lease could not be agreed and what the respective options would be 
available. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that until the Council agreed the Heads of 
Terms of a lease and a refurbishment option, these conversations could not be held 
with the Anthem Trust.   

 
A Member asked the Head of Arts and Leisure to confirm the timescale in which the 
Department for Education would correspond back to the Council. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure explained that there had been significant pressure 
from the Department for Education on LCC and the Anthem Trust to resolve 
matters. LCC had reassured SKDC that this issue would be expedited.  

 
A Member asked the Head of Arts and Leisure to confirm whether the refurbishment 
option would be looked into should the school decide not to renew its lease.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the Council would not invest into the 
Centre without a lease.  

 
A Member asked for clarification as to how long the lease would continue for and a 
negotiation timeframe. 

 
It was noted that the lease from LCC to the school would be 125 years as it must be 
on standard academy terms. 

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Leisure what steps had been taken at 
LCC to attempt to resolve the lease situation and confirmation of the possible 
timescale of contractors starting work once a decision had been made. 

 
Councillor Dobson was unable to answer this question but stated. However, he 
stated for the record that in his time as a County Councillor he had attended the 
majority of Deeping St James Parish Council meetings in the years 2017-2021. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that the lease between LCC and the Anthem 
Trust would have to take place in parallel and that those negotiations were well 
advanced. The two agreements would be entered in concurrently.  

 
The Chairman invited Members to discuss items (e), (f), (g) and (h) of the agenda at 
this stage of proceedings. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the school had requested additional 
work to be undertaken such as a resurfacing of car park, a new incoming water 
main and bollards at the entrance gates.  

21



 
A Member shared his disappointment over the selling of the Landis & Gyr site. He 
stated that the report outlined the comparisons of the Landis & Gyr site for 
refurbishment with a new build and did not mention renovating the existing 
Deepings Leisure Centre.  

 
Clarification was sought as to how the costings of the options available had been 
calculated. 

 
Mr Weston confirmed that at the start of the project he looked at the needs 
assessment as if it was to be a new build and how this could be related to the 
existing building. He highlighted the problems of the existing building, specifically 
accommodation for people on the first-floor level which comprised a very small gym 
space. Mr Weston highlighted the aspects of each of the options available and the 
difference in costings. 

 
Mr Rushton commented on the business planning of the options. He stressed that 
all options and business plans factored in the relaunch of the Centre including its 
memberships and swimming lessons. He also outlined that the financial model of a 
Leisure Centre was dependant on health and fitness income, swimming income and 
swimming lesson income. These three components determined the financial 
performance of a Leisure Centre, based on the catchment area and customer 
demand.  

 
The Chief Executive noted that in paragraph 1.22 of the report, the needs analysis 
had been provided where the demographics of the area were investigated to identify 
the needs of the area for these facilities. It was highlighted that the Anthem Trust 
were in use of the playing fields, sports hall and the swimming pool and that the 
refurbishment options available included the Anthem Trust still having access to 
these. 

 
A Member asked Paul Weston the following questions: 

 

•   When SKDC was exploring new build options on Linchfield Road and the Landis & 
Gyr site, why was a recommendation not made regarding a new build centre? 

•   Why did the costs of Option A appear higher than the £1.5 million that LCC’s 
condition survey originally stated? 

•   Could he confirm the cost and timescale of a basic refurbishment as set out in 
Option A? 

•   If the Council did agree to undertake a refurbishment rather than a new build, what 
would the arrangement be with the school and how would the partnership be 
managed? 

•   Could he confirm the management of cost and maintenance of the shared use car 
park? 

•   Would there be an impact on income in respect of the lease of school fields? 

•   If the refurbishment of the existing centre went ahead, would the refurbishment be 
phased? 

•   Could he confirm figures based around the demand of Deepings Leisure Centre? 

22



 
Mr Weston confirmed he had prepared and presented refurbishment options in 
2013 to SKDC. He highlighted an issue raised that a new build could be built whilst 
the existing Leisure Centre remained in operation. He stated that a basic 
refurbishment option would be based on a 25-year lifespan, which was used to 
judge the selection of materials and how long they would last. The work that had 
been completed around Option A was based on the new condition survey which 
produced more evidenced information.   

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the proposed lease would include the 
Leisure Centre building and the playing fields. It was highlighted that the school 
would still require the use of the sports hall and playing fields during day term time, 
however, the proposal included a payment from the school. Alongside this, a 
Service Level Agreement could be developed which would detail the payments and 
how they would be calculated.  

 
It was noted that a phased delivery could be something that the Council 
investigated, however, the current costs were based on the work being completed 
at one time. It was a probability that the options around phasing may increase the 
cost.  

 
Further clarity was sought in relation to the extension of the catchment area 
considered and whether transport facilities were considered to determine the 
demand of the area. 

 
Mr Rushton confirmed that the catchment area was a 20 minute travel time and that 
current and future population projections were included within this assessment. It 
was highlighted that none of the projections indicated that the centre would not take 
less than it did before, warning however that it may take some time to get back to 
how it was prior to closure. 

 
A query was raised regarding the consideration of Stamford, Grantham and Bourne. 
Bourne had experienced a leaking roof and had an old boiler. It was understood, 
however, that temporary measures had been put into place for the winter.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that Bourne Leisure Centre opened in the 
1990’s and that the installations were not as old as the Deepings Leisure Centre. A 
budget had been assigned to bring forward the refurbishment options, with that 
budget not having been fully utilised. The Council was in the process of 
commissioning full building condition surveys on Stamford, Grantham and Bourne 
Leisure Centres to identify their condition and to develop asset management plans.  

 
The Chairman made the following points: 

 

•   The figures in the report were not in the current Medium Term Financial Plans, 
together with the revenue that would need to be gained and any savings generated. 

•   The impact of inflation that had been modelled were still unclear. 

23



•   It would be interesting to understand the Leader of the Council’s preferred approach 
in respect of the options presented. 

 
The Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer highlighted the financial 
implications in the report were slightly disproportionate due to the new build being a 
50-year lifespan and the refurbishing of the existing asset being 25-year lifespan. 
This put pressure on the borrowing profile due to it being over a shortened period. 
The surplus income projections could be used to offset the borrowing cost options.  

 
The Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste 
Service noted that to facilitate this any budget decisions would be made by Full 
Council.  

 
Mr Weston confirmed that the contingency allowance at this stage was 10%. The 
calculations for inflation had followed a national service building cost calculated by 
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and was received on a monthly basis. 
The inflation figures were based on the mid-point of the different options.  

 
The Leader of the Council highlighted the ambition for Option C, due to delivering 
everything that a new centre would, whilst protecting services in the south of the 
District. Cabinet and Council would determine the outcome in terms of savings and 
prioritising the budgets in respect of leisure.  

 
A Member queried what consultation had taken place with the Deepings community 
about the options available for Deepings Leisure Centre. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure stated that the proposals set out in the report were 
subject to consultation and highlighted the difficulty of community consultation with 
no parameters.  

 
A Member questioned procurement of works for this project. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure stated that, following the meeting, detailed work 
around procurement would be undertaken for presentation to Cabinet on 7 
December 2021. 

 

The Monitoring Officer clarified that this meeting would be making 
recommendations to Cabinet, with a further recommendation from Cabinet referred 
onto Full Council at its extraordinary meeting on 14 December 2021 for the final 
decision. It was highlighted that this meeting, as a Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, had no decision-making power on this matter.  

 
AGREED: 

 
To note the feasibility work undertaken to establish options for leisure 
provision in the Deepings.  
 

 

24



RECOMMENDATION: 
 

That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Cabinet that 
Full Council: 

 
(1) Approves Option C with a budget allocation of £10.663m for leisure facilities 

to meet the local needs in the Deepings area, subject to meaningful 
community consultation and the inclusion of a financial review. 
 

(2) Requests the relevant Cabinet Member to call upon the Department for 
Education and the Anthem Trust to resolve the lease of Deepings Leisure 
Centre in order to allow LeisureSK Ltd and South Kesteven District Council 
representatives to reopen the Deepings Leisure Centre as soon as possible. 

 
5. Close of meeting 

 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 17:09. 

 
 

25



This page is intentionally left blank

26



 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

22 February 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  Leader of the Council 

         
  

The post-Brexit South Kesteven economic climate 

This report provides an update on current evidence regarding the impact felt by South Kesteven’s 
economy since the implementation period ended and the United Kingdom left the European Union 
single market and customs union.  
 

 

Report Author 

Jon Hinde, InvestSK Manager 

 
 01476 406560 

  jon.hinde@investsk.co.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 28 January 2022 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 3 February 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council 3 February 2022 

 

Recommendations to the decision makers 

It is recommended that members of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 

1. Make a request to the InvestSK Limited Board to encourage officers to maintain 
ongoing analysis of the impact of Brexit on businesses and report any notable 
trends in the local economy to the relevant Portfolio holder and this committee.  

2. Identify any further action resulting from the discussion during the meeting. 

 

 

27

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

  The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Corporate Plan (2020-2023) aims to shape the future of South Kesteven.  The Plan 

has a strong focus on making South Kesteven a beacon for public service leadership, as 

well as economic growth and development.  The world in which we live is ever-changing 

and the Plan reflects that, with strong commitments around place shaping, infrastructure 

and making South Kesteven the best district in which to live, work and visit.   

1.2 To deliver the growth ambitions, it is crucial that South Kesteven is resilient, continually 

adapting and responding to wider economic change, and continues to capitalise on the 

uniquely distinctive attributes that have given the district its competitive edge when 

compared to other localities. Members need to be aware of factors within and outside of 

the control of local government that impact and shape the local economy. This report aims 

to do that.  

1.3 "Brexit" - the term used to describe Britain's European Union (EU) departure, represented 

the most important constitutional shake-up the United Kingdom (UK) had known since it 

joined the six-nation European Economic Community in 1973. It was also the first time the 

European institution had lost a member.  

1.4 As widely reported, the UK ceased to be a member of the political institutions of the EU on 

31 January 2020. Today, there are no UK Members of the European Parliament (MEPs) in 

the European Parliament, no UK commissioner and UK ministers no longer attend 

meetings of the European Council. Everything else has remained the same. An 

implementation period was in place until 31 December 2020 and a new relationship with 

the EU began.  

1.5 Against this backdrop, South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) has adopted a pro-active 

approach to understand the main threats and opportunities facing local businesses and 

the economy and put in place responsible business and skills support services via 

InvestSK Limited, the council-owned economic development, inward investment and 

visitor economy company.  

1.6 SKDC has continued to deliver major projects to create the conditions to grow the local 

economy and ensure businesses can thrive in evolving global markets. This includes 

supporting the administration of over £51m of COVID grant support to 3,000 businesses 

across the district, securing £5.56m for the Grantham Future High Street Fund, additional 

funding to support delivery of the Grantham High Street Heritage Action Zone and 

£252,909 of Welcome Back Funding.   

1.7 From mid-September 2020, through to April 2021, SKDC through InvestSK Limited, were 

represented on a Lincolnshire-wide Local Authorities Group charged with identifying the 

pre and post impact of Brexit, in particular the effect on the business community.  The 

group reviewed risks, the controls in place and shared information, focussing efforts on 

planning and supporting businesses navigating through the nationwide issue (during the 

implementation period). Engagement in this Group ensured the Council made leading 

contributions on coordinating the areas response and remedial actions to key issues 

pertinent to business and the economy. In addition, Officers took part in multi-agency 

seminars, workshops, training and teleconference to assist in preparedness. The group 

was then disbanded in April 2021 as there were so few enquiries and requests for support 

and information coming through from businesses across the County. 

28



 

 
 

1.8 Central Government were responsible for the flow of supporting information to businesses 

and their employees, with the Council being the local catalyst to ensure the relevant 

information was available and easily accessible to support specific enquiries.  

1.9 InvestSK Limited provided a prominent link on their website to take enquiries from 

businesses, individuals and families directly to the applicable Government sites (which 

evolved as more information became available): https://investsk.co.uk/uk-transition-from-

the-eu-brexit/ 

1.10 The most requested questions centred on advice about: 

- importing goods from the EU 

- exporting goods to the EU 

- moving goods to or from Northern Ireland 

- travelling to the EU 

- living and working in the EU 

- staying in the UK if you’re an EU citizen 

1.11 The high level of online advice and signposting negated the need for significant in-person 

support.  However, there were occasions when businesses in South Kesteven required 

expert knowledge of specific, often complex, subject matters. 

1.11.1 A particular issue identified by some of the district’s largest and best-known employers, 

related to an inability to operate effectively under the new Brexit regulations regarding the 

‘rule of origin’ on importing and exporting of components. It became difficult for businesses 

to import numerous parts from around the world, assemble and distribute, given the 

varying tariffs and restrictions placed upon each part originating from outside of the UK. 

1.11.2 With support from Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) colleagues at Lincolnshire County 

Council (LCC), the Council were able to broker the necessary business support from 

senior Department of Trade and Industry (DIT) and Department for Environment, Food & 

Rural Affairs (DEFRA) officials which ultimately prevented the potential for job losses 

resulting from the new rules. 

1.11.3 The more commonly reported issues faced by our businesses locally because of the EU 

exit and or which the latest advice, guidance and signposting was provided, were: 

• Importing and exporting of goods 

• Regulations and standards for products 

• Employing EU citizens 

• Intellectual property 

• Data sharing and compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

1.12 During the transition period, the number of direct contacts from businesses was extremely 

low.  This mirrored the county, as reported by the Lincolnshire Growth Hub, where a mere 

41 businesses contacted the dedicated ‘EU Exit helpline’. 

1.13 It is worthy of noting South Kesteven’s diverse business base. A lack of dependency on a 

small number of key sectors to drive the economy and employment levels, has meant the 

district did not feel the impact of either the EU Exit nor the COVID-19 pandemic, as heavily 

as other areas nearby and further afield. This has provided a degree of resilience within 

29

https://investsk.co.uk/uk-transition-from-the-eu-brexit/
https://investsk.co.uk/uk-transition-from-the-eu-brexit/


 

 
 

the local economy, not as easily found in other parts of Lincolnshire where densely 

populated sectors (such as farming, agriculture, food production, tourism and hospitality) 

have been greatly affected. 

1.14 The agri-food sector combines agriculture and food manufacturing with a strong focus on 

agri-tech (robotics) and the supply chain. Greater Lincolnshire has an international 

reputation for food, fish, and farming and has one of the largest concentrations of food 

manufacturing, research, storage and distribution areas in Europe. The area is responsible 

for growing 30% of the nation's vegetables and producing 18% of the poultry, with a total 

agricultural output of over £2bn in 2019, representing 12% of England’s total production. 

County-wide impacts on this sector have been identified as: 

- Several tenants reporting challenges in dealing with the new international trade 

regime. 

- Tenants facing increased costs coupled with a significantly increased administrative 

burden for exports. This has led to delays in complying with the necessary 

requirements for inspection. For example, when a vegetable producer is looking to 

export, the potential delay of several days does not align with the expectation of 

buyers. 

- A few businesses, prior to EU exit, regularly exported to the Netherlands with 

deliveries taking place within 24 hours of an order being placed. Post Brexit, it now 

takes several days due to the requirements to have the goods inspected.  This delay 

has proven unacceptable to the purchaser.  

- The delay in the delivery of perishable goods causes deterioration in the quality of the 

product. Farmers who previously had regularly exported across the Irish Sea, are 

now unable to sell to those customers as the goods are likely to be held for several 

days on landing, pending inspection.  After which time, the load is un-saleable. 

- Estimates indicate there are 500,000 unfilled vacancies across the UK food supply 

chain. This is a dilemma faced locally for which businesses have reported increasing 

difficulty in solving over the past year or so. It is a particular issue for the more 

intensive horticultural businesses which are growing vegetables, potatoes, and 

flowers. 

- Businesses have reported difficulties sourcing labour, labour turning up demanding 

increased pay to work, operatives receiving better offers and going elsewhere. Some 

labour suppliers have been asking for £20 per hour to supply agricultural labourers. 

One of the larger farming businesses involved in the growing, processing and 

packing of brassicas for the supermarkets, reported that their labour costs has 

increased by 25% year on year. 

- There is a view that deliveries are slower due to the shortage of haulage drivers. 

Aside from the concern at sourcing haulage when required, businesses have 

expressed concern that this will inevitably lead to higher costs. 

1.14.1 As identified these issues are reflected at local level, yet without the level of negative 

impact felt in other parts of Lincolnshire. 

1.15 In summary, whilst some level of disruption is apparent it has not presented itself as a 

detrimental long-term negative impact on the local economy. Labour shortages do exist 

yet have not led to wide-scale business closures or production failings.  However, the 

impact of Brexit on shortages has at times been difficult to distinguish from that of the 

30



 

 
 

coronavirus pandemic. The earlier reference to a resilient South Kesteven economy, has 

greatly minimised the overall impact of Brexit on the district-wide business base. 

   Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 This report is presented to the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee at the request of Members. 

2.2 As part of this ambition for South Kesteven, the Leader of the Council and InvestSK 

Limited have been actively engaging with, and supporting networks, especially for the 

5,990 value-added tax (VAT) or pay as you earn (PAYE) business enterprises based in 

the district (cross reference with 14.1). 

2.3 InvestSK runs the InvestSK Tea Break events and is an active member of several 

business support and networking groups. This had enabled InvestSK to design new 

responsible business support activities and cross-refer businesses to specialist 

international trade support providers more effectively. Therefore, much of the content of 

this report is down to direct feedback received from businesses. 

  Available Options Considered 

3.1 Option 1 – Do nothing. As elected members can help create an environment that supports 

the growth and expansion of local businesses, primarily by opening lines of 

communication, this option was discounted. 

3.2 Option 2 – Commission an external organisation to undertake a detailed consultation 

exercise with businesses across South Kesteven to obtain comprehensive data relating to 

the impact of Brexit. Such an approach would incur costs for the Council as part of the 

commissioning process.  It is believed that thanks to InvestSK’s active involvement with 

business support and networking groups, this already provides the Council with sufficient 

detailed and updated insights on trends, threats and opportunities affecting local 

businesses.  For these reasons, this option was discounted.  

Option 3 – To recognise that primarily it is Government that should be monitoring and 

supporting businesses through the transition period and further from the EU. And to 

acknowledge that at local authority level we could spend a lot of money researching more 

issues, but ultimately we have no powers to affect change, just an influencing role into the 

LGA. Something that is vitally important given the LGA and other central bodies have 

communicated little to businesses since the early days post transition. 

This option is therefore to take note of the findings of this report and request InvestSK 

maintain ongoing analysis of the impact of Brexit on businesses within South Kesteven 

and communicate back to national level through the recognised channels and to lobby 

them in recognising the need for ongoing support, particularly given a number of the 

issues identified are ongoing to this day...  

  Preferred Option 

4.1 Option 3 is preferred. SKDC, through InvestSK Limited, will continue to work with local 

business support and economic development partners, to continue collating information 

regarding the key challenges and opportunities facing South Kesteven businesses. 

Ultimately giving us the necessary information to be able to lobby relevant Government 

departments in continuing to recognise the ongoing issues faced by local businesses as a 

result of EU exit. 

31



 

 
 

   Reason for the Recommendations 

5.1 Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic and the EU Exit, InvestSK Limited have maintained 

regular contact with over 1,000 local businesses. This has led to an unprecedented level 

of local knowledge and these relationships will continue going forward. As such, any 

trends in the local economy can be quickly identified, addressed and reported accordingly. 

   Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 To produce an update of the South Kesteven Economic Intelligence Report (last produced 

in June 2019), Layout 1 (investsk.co.uk) to provide an accurate assessment of the local 

economy and the impacts resulting from both COVID-19 and Brexit. 

6.2 In the meantime, the monitoring of business feedback will continue. In keeping with 

current practice, any anomalies and unforeseen events will be communicated to the 

relevant portfolio holder and committee should there be any specific areas of concern to 

the district-wide economy. 

   Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no specific financial implications to the Council in the content of this report.  

Should there be any policy or proposed responses to the issues raised in the report then 

the financial considerations would need to be considered at that time. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance  

   Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee is the appropriate body to consider the content of this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

   Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Keeping Children Safe in Education (KCSIE) – KCSIE provides statutory guidance on how 

to safeguard children and on safer recruitment. This key document guides all the 

educational settings to safeguard children and young people. The KCSIE document is 

updated by the Department for Education every 1 to 2 years. Following the UK leaving the 

EU, two substantive changes relating to recruitment were made.  Further details available 

online at:   

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2 

9.2 Women’s Rights – Women have benefited from the legal protections that have come from 

the EU, such as the Part-Time Worker Directive (2000) and Fixed Term Worker Directive 

(2002), and protections for unpaid carers, pregnancy and maternity rights, equal pay and 

those relating to sex discrimination. These protections are currently part of EU retained 

law; however, the government has recently announced a review of retained EU law 

(REUL).  

9.3 Residency rights - the Immigration and Social Security Coordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 

2020 ended free movement on 31 December 2020. On 1 January 2021, a grace period of 

six months began, during which time relevant aspects of free movement were saved to 

allow eligible EU, European Economic Area (EEA) and Swiss (EEA) citizens and their 

32

https://investsk.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Economic-Intelligence-Report-2019-FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2


 

 
 

family members resident in the UK by 31 December 2020 to apply to the EU Settlement 

Scheme (EUSS). This period ended on 30 June 2021. Further details available online at:  

https://www.gov.uk/right-to-reside 

9.4 Employer Right to Work Checks - Employers must prevent illegal working in the UK by 

carrying out document checks on people before employing them to make sure they are 

allowed to work. Guidance on tight to work checks are available online at:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-work-checks-employers-guide 

   Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 As detailed within the body of the report, there has been minimal impact detected through 

monitoring arrangements, meaning information flow is being dealt with by normal service 

resources. InvestSK Limited will continue to monitor the situation closely. This structure is 

in place as a proportionate way to ensuring that there is strategic oversight in place.  

10.2 InvestSK Limited will continue to design and implement appropriate business support 

measures in response, as changes emerge.  

  Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Leaving the EU has meant rules and procedures have changed for some industries. The 

responsibility to protect health and safety of people affected by work activities remains.  

There are some new rules and procedures which must be followed to continue to place 

chemicals, civil explosives and work equipment and machinery on our domestic market.  

Specific guidance for these industries and work activities can be found online at: 

https://www.hse.gov.uk/brexit/index.htm 

 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Following Brexit, the UK has regained greater control over its domestic markets and is 

now able to push through legislative measures to support ambitious emissions reduction 

targets more easily. For example, enforcing a national ban on petrol and diesel vehicles 

ahead of other EU countries would not have been possible had the UK remained in the 

EU. It also has greater flexibility to pursue new innovations and diplomatic approaches. 

Leveraging such strengths will support the ambition to reduce the Council’s carbon 

footprint by at least 30% by 2030 and to endeavour to be net-zero carbon by as soon as 

viable before 2050. 

   Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None 

   Background Papers 

14.1 Labour Market Profile for South Kesteven District Council, published on the National 

Online Manpower Information System (Nomis, a service provided by the Office for 

National Statistics, UK, accessible online at: 

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157153/printable.aspx 

14.2 To find out which trade agreements the UK is negotiating and which trade agreements the 

UK has already signed, please visit:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/the-uks-trade-agreements 

33

https://www.gov.uk/right-to-reside
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-work-checks-employers-guide
https://www.hse.gov.uk/brexit/index.htm
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157153/printable.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/the-uks-trade-agreements


 

 
 

 

   Appendices 

15.1 None 

 

 

 

 

34



 

 

1  

Finance, Economic Development 
and Corporate Services OSC 

22 February 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

COVID-19 Response, Recovery and Impact on SKDC 
Services 

The report sets out an overview of the impact of Covid-19 on South Kesteven District Council and 
various services and approaches.  It also highlights ongoing issues and identifies key lessons 
learnt to date from Covid-19. 

1 

Report Author 

Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive)  

 
 01476 406080 

  Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 9 February 2022 

Approved by: Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 9 February 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of the Council) 11 February 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the impact of Covid-19 and related restrictions on SKDC services and the 
ongoing changes to the service delivery landscape for the District 

2. Endorses the key lessons learnt from Covid-19 and asks the Chief Executive to 
ensure that these are embedded in the future operations of the Council 

3. Thanks all those involved in the response and recovery from Covid-19, with 
particular thanks to communities and the voluntary sector who have played a vital 
role in supporting the most vulnerable during the pandemic 

35

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Following an outbreak in early 2020 the World Health Organisation declared that COVID-

19 was a global pandemic on 11 March 2020.  The ongoing spread of the disease across 

Europe initiated a response from Government and local authorities across the United 

Kingdom.   

1.2 To date the pandemic has had many phases, with both the prevalence of the virus and 

associated national and regional measures varying significantly over the period.  Each 

phase has had different impacts on the services of the Council and on our communities 

and businesses.  The Prime Minister announced a return to ‘Plan A’ on 27 January 2022, 

meaning that there are currently no legal restrictions on public life in England beyond 

isolation for those who have tested positive for Covid-19. 

1.3 However, to protect the health and safety of our communities, staff and Members of SKDC 

are still utilising a number of measures to reduce the potential for transmission of the virus. 

1.4 A position statement was taken to Cabinet in June 2020 setting out the SKDC response 

(which is attached as a background paper) and this report provides an update from that 

position and also a focus on key lessons learnt to date. 

2 Initial Response and Setting Priorities 

2.1 As a public authority South Kesteven played a key role in supporting businesses and 

communities throughout Covid-19 and at the Cabinet meeting on 17 March 2020 the 

Leader of the Council set out that South Kesteven District Council’s three priorities, in 

responding to the pandemic, were: 

1. To protect the health of our staff, Members and residents 

2. To maintain our critical services; and 

3. To support our local businesses. 

2.2 Throughout the various phases of the pandemic SKDC has continued to be driven by 

these three priorities and Members should refer to the June 2020 report for a detailed 

appraisal of the initial ‘response’ phase.   

3 Health impact of Covid-19 

3.1 Covid-19 has, very sadly, had a significant impact on the health of our communities both 

through the direct and in-direct impact of Covid-19.  In South Kesteven as of 1 February 

2022 we have had: 

- 34,958 cases of Covid-19  

- 318 deaths within 28 days of a positive Covid-19 test 

- Vaccinations given in SK 319,974 (age 12 and over) 

o 116,488 first dose (90% of cohort) 

o 110,401 second dost (85% of cohort) 

o 93,085 third/booster dose (72% of cohort) 

3.2 The Council has also supported the mobilisation of various testing sites at Council owned 

assets, including  

- Walk-in PCR test site at Queen Elizabeth Park car park (Grantham) established and 

continues 

36



 

 

- Mobile Testing Units sites set up at Grantham Meres and St Martins Park (Stamford) to 

support PCR testing regime 

- Lateral flow testing station set up at Grantham Meres, initially staffed by LeisureSK 

staff for SK staff and Local Resilience Forum partners, alongside a site at Earlesfield 

Community Centre  

3.3 The impact on our communities has been partly mitigated by the excellent vaccination 

programme in the District, with Grantham Meres Leisure Centre being the most used 

vaccination centre in Lincolnshire celebrating it’s 250,000 vaccination on 17 December 

2021, and to date there have been: 

- 116,488 First Doses, 90% of over 12s 

- 110,401 Second Jabs, 85% of over 12s 

- 93,085 Booster Jabs, 72% of over 12s 

3.4 In addition to the direct health impact of Covid-19 there has been a number of other 

indirect impact on mental and physical health, which have been exacerbated by isolation 

issues and lack of access to facilities – both caused by closure of facilities.  SKDC is 

committed to working with a variety of partners to address the long-term impact of the 

indirect issues.  Examples of the mitigations are the development of the Mental Health 

Working Party to work with public and private sector partners and community groups to 

promote better mental wellbeing and developed the Sport and Physical Activity strategy.  

4 Impact on Services and Activities 

4.1 There has been a wider ranging impact on our services at SKDC and Appendix 1 sets out 

the position for many of the most effected services and assets.  Practically all services had 

an initial impact, but many have seen changes that will have a lasting impact on service 

delivery. 

4.2 Some of the key short-term impact on services that are highlighted in Appendix 1 are: 

- The immediate realignment of resources in InvestSK Ltd and the Council’s finance 

teams to focus on distributing over £50m of grants to 3,000 businesses 

- The set up of the SK Community Hub to provide a resource for vulnerable residents 

and the mobilisation of over 1,500 volunteers within our communities to support more 

that 2,000 requests for support 

- The move to ‘urgent only’ repairs in the housing service to minimise social contact at 

the early stage of the pandemic, creating an enormous repairs backlog when normal 

service resumed 

- The delivery of the ‘Everyone In’ scheme to ensure that all rough sleepers were offered 

accommodation and the emergency redeployment of general use Council Homes to 

temporary accommodation to facilitate this 

- Implementing new operating practices to minimise potential exposure to the Covid-19, 

for example ‘working bubbles’ in the Waste and Street Scene service 

- Rapid mobilisation of technology and working practices to enable over 400 people to 

work from home every day (a 13-fold increase on pre-pandemic levels) 

- Responding to changes in legislation in guidance for public and business behaviour 

and working with businesses to support them in complying with the prevailing 

legislation at that time, enabling businesses to re-open and operate safely 

37



 

 

- Adopting virtual meeting practices between April 2020 and May 2021 and then 

embedding social distancing within formal meetings of the Council while maintaining 

public access, enabled by live streaming technology 

- Closure of Leisure facilities and Arts Centres for a large period of time and the 

introduction of many health and safety measures when they were able to reopen. 

4.3 Although many of these changes were short-term or related to a particular phase of 

restrictions, there are many changes that are likely to lead to ongoing changes to service 

delivery, including: 

- The establishment of LeisureSK Ltd to support the ongoing delivery of leisure services 

in the District and mitigate the impact of issues within the leisure market 

- Ongoing issues with the recruitment and retention of staff, caused by national and local 

workforce shortages (although Covid-19 is likely to be only a partial cause of this).  

There is also a knock-on impact on the price of many services (directly and indirectly 

delivered) that have increased due to increases in labour and materials 

- Ongoing adoption of a ‘hybrid’ working approach providing opportunities for greater 

flexibility in the workforce, supporting being an employer of choice 

- Strengthened relationships between the Council, public sector partners and the 

Community and Voluntary sector, providing a platform for increased partnership 

working to better meet the mental and physical health needs of residents 

- Anticipated ongoing requirement for testing and vaccination capacity within the 

Councils asset portfolio 

- Reduction in demand for key services, including Leisure Memberships and demand for 

Arts performances 

- Change in enquiries to InvestSK Ltd, including a significant reduction in demand for 

office space and increased demand for retail space, particularly from start ups 

- Ongoing availability of public meetings online via YouTube, increasing the 

opportunities for individuals to engage with democratic decision making 

5 Financial Impact of Covid-19 

5.1 There is an overview of the financial impact of Covid-19 in Appendix 2, which sets out the 

summary information relating to additional costs, significant income losses and the receipt 

of additional Government support for Councils (e.g. the income replacement scheme). 

5.2 The Council approved a revised budget framework in September 2020, as the budget 

approved in March was no longer fit for purpose as there had been very significant 

changes to the assumptions that underpin it. 

5.3 In the financial year 2020/21 the additional costs to the Council and income losses were 

approximately £3m (which included £2m in lost income), however these were largely 

mitigate by £2.997m in Government grants, which included an un-ringfenced support for 

Councils, the leisure and cultural recovery grants and also the income losses grant. 

5.4 In 2021/22 the impact of Covid on the Councils finances is estimated at approximately 

£1.346m, however the net effect is greater as Government support grants total only 

£0.230m. 

5.5 It should be noted that there are a number of areas, particularly related to income where 

there is likely to have been a long term impact on behaviours which will have a long term 

38



 

 

negative effect on the income received.  These assumptions have been included as part of 

the 2022/23 budget setting process.  

6 Lessons Learned 

6.1 The document in Appendix 1 outlines a number of lessons learnt across the service areas 

that it is recommended are embedded within the ongoing operations as a Council, these 

lessons include: 

- The Council has a key role as a ‘partner’ both with other public sector bodies and in 

relation to the Voluntary and Community Sector and play a role in enabling the different 

parties to ‘play to their strengths’ to deliver the intended outcome.  Therefore it is often 

appropriate for the Council to take a contributor or enabler role, rather than assuming it 

is the lead organisation in delivering projects and interventions.  

- The pandemic response also highlighted that the Council could play a stronger role in 

Community Leadership, particularly through locally elected Members.  Therefore the 

Council should consider investing in the skills of officers and Members to support this. 

- Prioritising the development of robust business continuity plans (including a hierarchy 

of services) and ensuring ongoing engagement with the Local Resilience Forum and 

Emergency Planning service is critical.  Business continuity plans should be updated 

on a regular (at least annual) basis to ensure they are robust and reflect the current 

operating environment. These plans should be supported by a skills database to 

support the Council in rapid redeployment of staff to the most essential services when 

required. 

- Developing a culture where the Council and any wholly owned companies or assets 

work closely together and avoid silos supports an effective, joined up response to key 

issues. 

- The pandemic has provided a stimulus to invest in technology to enable members of 

the public to have greater access to decision making meetings and local democracy, 

opportunities to embed and promote this should be explored to support greater 

community engagement. 

- During the past two years we have seen many phases of restrictions related to Covid-

19, which have significantly impacted on the delivery of many events and activities.  

While planning events every effort should be taken to ensuring they can be adapted to 

meet the conditions of the time and thresholds established for reducing or postponing 

events. 

- The importance of utilising effective data and business intelligence has been 

particularly key for services relying on income generation, or who operate in volatile 

market conditions.  This data and intelligence is critical to informing business 

decisions, including redeployment of staff, furlough and other key investment 

decisions. 

- Covid-19 provided a reminder of the importance of ensuring the support the mental 

and physical wellbeing of Members and officers.  The Council has strengthened it’s 

approach since the beginning of Covid-19 with the extension of the Employee 

Assistance Programme to Members and the focus of the Mental Health Working Party 

(including expanding the number of Mental Health First Aiders in the organisation).  It 

is essential that the health and wellbeing of all continues to be prioritised. 

-  

39



 

 

7 Available Options Considered 

7.1 As the report is not asking for any specific decisions there are no other alternative options 

considered. 

8 Preferred Option 

8.1 The preferred option for the report is to note the findings and apply the lessons learnt. 

9 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

9.1 The purpose of the report is primarily to note the impact of Covid-19 and the response by 

SKDC.  It is good practice to identify, capture and apply lessons learnt. 

10 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

10.1 The next steps are set out in the paper “COVID-19 – SKDC Recovery Plan” appearing 

separately on this agenda. 

11 Financial Implications  

11.1 The financial impact of the pandemic for the Council has been significant and varied and is 

still impacting during the current financial year.  The specific funding streams that have 

either been applied for specific services (Arts and Culture) or received as general support 

and is summarised in the table at Appendix 2.  The financial implication will continue to be 

monitored and the Committee will continue to be updated as part of the Budget monitoring 

report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

12 Legal and Governance Implications  

12.1 As this report is for noting there are no legal implications associated with this report 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive 

13 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

13.1 As this report is for noting there are no equality and safeguarding implications associated 

with this report.  However equality and safeguarding implications will be fully considered 

while implementing the lessons learnt. 

14 Risk and Mitigation 

14.1 To mitigate future risks it is essential that the lessons learnt outlined in this report are 

applied.  This will be led by the Chief Executive and Corporate Management Team. 

15 Community Safety Implications  

15.1 There are no specific Community Safety implications of this report, which is a review of 

activity to date.  However, all the actions contained within have been carried out 

specifically with Community Safety at the forefront of those decisions. 

16 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District Council’s 

declaration of a climate emergency? 

16.1 There are no direct climate change or carbon impacts as a result of this report and the 

recommendations.  However all implications will be considered where relevant while 

implementing the lessons learnt. 

 

40



 

 

17 Other Implications (where significant)  

17.1 None 

18 Background Papers 

18.1 Covid-19 Response – Position Statement (Report to Cabinet 16 June 2020) 

19 Appendices 

19.1 Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Responses 

19.2 Appendix 2 – Financial Impact of Covid-19  

 

 

 

41

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s25830/COVID-19%20position%20statement%20final%20v1-0.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

Service Area Summary Impact Ongoing Impact Lessons Learnt 

Communities - The impact on Communities of the Covid-19 restrictions was 
very significant, with concerns about physical and mental 
health 

- SKDC developed the SK Community Hub in March 2020 to link 
those in need of support with those able to offer it and provide 
signposting and information.  The SK Community Hub initial 
focus was primarily on peoples physical needs (e.g. shopping or 
collecting medication) 

- The SK Community Hub received over 2000 calls and had a pool 
of over 1500 volunteers.  However the demand for the SK 
Community Hub reduced significantly from Summer 2020 

- SKDC also offered a telephone befriending service to residents 
during 2020, with over 300 residents taking up the offer of calls 
from members of staff and Councillors.  This service was 
transferred to BHive and Evergreen in late 2020 

- Since Summer 2020 the focus of the Councils work with 
communities has moved to supporting mental health and 
wellbeing 

- SKDC developed a Mental Health Working Party (Members and 
officers) in late 2020 and a motion was unanimously adopted at 
Full Council in July 2021 – a key focus of this has been working 
with voluntary and community groups 

- This has been extremely successful and SKDC has supported 
groups in accessing external funding and creating forums or 
developing activity to support positive mental health in our 
communities – which has led to investment in each of our 4 
towns 

- The pandemic response has strengthened the relation 
between the Council and the voluntary and community 
sector, which has provided the basis for collaboration and 
partnership working going forward 

- Community groups across the district are also working more 
effectively together, sharing learning and best practice 

- The impact of the pandemic on mental wellbeing is significant 
and to respond positively to this involves the whole system 
working collaboratively 

- There are a number of health-related funding streams to 
support positive mental wellbeing and the Council will work 
closely with community groups to access them (alongside our 
own SK Community Fund) 

- The Council’s key role in communities is not as the 
‘doer’ but to act as a stimulus, enabler, equipper and 
facilitator 

- The Council is most effective as a partner in meeting 
the needs of the community and can play a key role 
in linking other partners and groups together to 
‘play to their strengths’ in supporting one another 

- Community leadership needs to be strengthened by 
developing skills in officers and Members 

Social Housing - The impact on SKDC’s housing service has been significant and 
the service has adapted through the various phases of 
restrictions.  It should be noted that the housing service has 
delivered alongside the implementation of a significant service 
improvement plan 

- The initial lockdown meant a shift to “emergency only” repairs, 
generating a huge backlog of responsive repairs that continue 
to be worked through.   The Council had and continues to 
experience cancellations of repairs and access refusals for 
inspections and surveys, where tenants either have Covid, are 
self-isolating, or feel vulnerable due to understandable 
concerns.   

- The Repairs Team and appointed Contractors continue to 
follow government guidance and sector best practice in terms 
of safe working methods, including mask use, hand sanitiser 
and social distancing.   Repairs and surveys are being rebooked 
once isolation periods are over.      

- Despite these challenges, the Council has sustained improved 
performance in terms of its landlord compliance responsibilities 
throughout the last 18 months, for example moving from zero 
in-date Fire Risk Assessments (FRAs) to 100% up-to-date FRAs. 

- The lockdowns have impacted on Void turnaround times, either 
with staff or contractor sickness absence, or ongoing issues 

- SKDC housing service has made a number of procedural 
changes to support the health and safety of employees and 
residents that will remain, but most of the other impacts were 
temporary in their nature and SKDC returned to a full repairs 
service in summer 2020 

- New complaints system has been introduced and close 
monitoring is important to ensure lessons are being learnt. 

 

- There is a need to develop a stronger tenants voice. 
- Cultural improvements are critical to ensure SKDC 

has a high performing housing service 

43



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

with material supplies.  A new policy has been adopted and a 
focus on voids is being maintained to drive improvements.  We 
continue to see improvements in this key area, with the 
number of properties in the process consistently falling, and the 
average turnaround time reducing also.   

- Risk assessments were undertaken in the Councils sheltered 
housing complexes leading to the closure of communal lounges 
in the Council’s sheltered housing schemes, and refunds were 
made to tenants for these periods.    The Sheltered Housing 
Team are working on plans to support and encourage the use of 
these facilities.    

 

Homelessness - The Council delivered the Government’s “Everyone In” 
initiative, ensuring nobody in the district was without 
accommodation, regardless of the Council’s usual homelessness 
duties.  This included some change of use for properties in the 
Council’s own housing stock, from general needs to temporary 
accommodation.   

- The Coronavirus Act 2020 provided protection to social and 
private tenants by delaying when landlords can evict tenants. 
From 1 October 2021, all notice periods returned to the pre-
pandemic position. This means the minimum period of notice 
which must be given under section 21 (the most common 
notice in the Private Rented Sector) is two months.  

- Across SKDC between March 2020 and February 2022 there 
were: 
i) 1235 new homelessness cases (Based on the assessment of 

circumstances confirming a prevention (346) or relief (889) 

duty) 

ii) 116 successful homelessness preventions of 290 completed 

duties 

iii) The flexible homeless support grant was: 

o 20/21 = £260,685 

o 21/22 = £335,841 

- The Council achieved a rate of 40% regarding successfully 

completed homelessness prevention duties and adopted a 

number of key actions to support and improve this, including: 

(successful preventions) 

i) have implemented the “call before you serve” initiative to 

improve relationships with Landlords and increase private 

rented options 

ii) grant funding was used to fund CAB debt adviser to help 

prevent homeless through debt in depth debt advice 

- Legislation preventing bailiff enforcement of evictions has also 
now expired. This measure was in place from 17 November 
2020 until 31 May 2021.       

- Since the easing of these restrictions, there has been an 
increase in presentations from the Private Rented Sector, 
anecdotally partly driven by landlords seeking to leave the 
sector i.e. sell their properties.     

- The Council’s approach to homelessness has now returned to 
its pre-pandemic service. 

- Rough sleeper surveys were undertaken in November 2021. 

 

44



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

- The Council continues to work hard with Private Landlords, for 
example the Council has used £2500 of its Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant to partly fund the refurbishment 
and licencing of a House in Multiple Occupation in Grantham. In 
return, the landlord agreed to give the Council 100% 
nomination rights to the property, both the first five tenants 
and then any other tenant when a vacancy arises, so any 
household owed a homeless duty can be considered. 

 

Waste Service - Worked with other Lincolnshire Councils as part of the 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership to ensure consistent approach 
to national Coivd-19 guidance for delivery of the waste services 

- Successfully maintained all waste collection services (residual, 
recycling, garden, food, bulky and commercial) as scheduled to 
date.  This has been a significant challenge and required a 
flexible and dedicated team to react to daily 
reviews/alterations to react to last minute staffing changes. 

- Changes and contingency planning to support business 
continuity includes: 

i) Refuse collection crews formed work “bubbles” to limit impact 
of self-isolation of close contacts of positive cases 

ii) Covid-19 secure arrangements implemented for waste crews, 
including enhanced cleaning regime for refuse collection 
vehicles and deep cleans 

iii) Covid-19 secure office environment with limited access for non-
essential staff and crews 

- Service prioritisation to support refuse collection as a priority if 
necessary, to date all levels of the hierarchy have been 
maintained, but this is not the case in other Councils 

- Bonus payment as an incentive to support staff retention. 
- Lateral flow testing utilised to support reduced self isolation 

where appropriate. 
- The team have expanded capacity to respond to a surge in 

requests for bulky waste collections which increased by around 
60%. 

- Increased use of casual staff to support provision of service. 
- Staff from other areas of SKDC trained to enable redeployment 

if necessary (mainly loader roles) 
- Training of new and redeployed staff to support continuity of 

service. 

- Recruitment and retention within the service is still sensitive 
to Covid-19 and other related issues (e.g. shortages in the 
labour market).  Therefore an ongoing plan is required to 
mitigate this. 

- The approach includes: 
i) Benchmarking pay rates for the team 
ii) Building resilience and flexibility across other services 

to redeploy staff if needed 
- There is a specific ongoing risk of HGV driver shortage (linked 

to national shortages).  Staff across SKDC with relevant 
licences identified to enable redeployment if needed, HGV 
driver training and access to agency drivers at short notice 
where required.  

 

- Although it has not been required to date the 
establishment of a ‘waste collection hierarchy’ is key 
to ensure resources are focused on critical services.  

Workshop and 
Mechanics 

- Contingency plans developed to mitigate absences due to Covid 
isolation, including back up processes with local companies. 

- Continued to maintain vehicle fleet to enable sustained delivery 
of core services. 

- Retraining of staff to support business continuity 
- Ongoing development of contingency contracts with local 

business with local suppliers to support sustained 
maintenance of the vehicle fleet. 

- The negotiation of contingency arrangements to 
mitigate staff absence should be put in place on an 
ongoing basis and any areas where additional 
efficiencies could be secured via the local supply 
chain should be fully explored. 

45



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

Business Continuity, 
Emergency Planning 
and Local Resilience 
Forum 

- Proactive SKDC engagement and representation within the 
Local Resilience Forum (LRF), including via Strategic 
Commanders Group (SCG), Tactical Commanders Group (TCG), 
Health Protection Board and the Local Outbreak Engagement 
Board (LOEB) and specific working cells (e.g. Warn and Inform) 

- Established Covid-19 incident team, new systems and processes 
with a peak between March and throughout the summer of 
2020, team reduced in size as demand reduced from this point, 
but a core infrastructure was retained 

- The team coordinated the response to national and LRF 
restrictions or requirements (e.g. changes to services, 
communication of latest guidance) 

- A number of processes were put in place to enhance the 
resilience of the organisation (and partners within Lincolnshire), 
including: 
i) Undertaking staff skills surveys and coordinated the 

redeployment of staff from non-critical services to 
maintain essential services, as required 

ii) Implementing Covid-19 service changes, risk 
assessments and mitigations to maintain services 
wherever possible (eg markets) 

iii) Sourcing and maintaining central SKDC supplies of PPE, 
particularly important during the early phases when 
there were supply shortages. 

- Alongside frontline services there was a significant requirement 
on support services to enable continued delivery, including: 

i) The IT team rapidly mobilising to enable 400 staff to safely 
work from home from a baseline prior to the pandemic of 
an average of 30 people working remotely each day 

ii) The Human Resources (HR) team undertaking a significant 
amount of work to understand, track, respond and support 
staff to support their wellbeing and mental health (e.g. 
wellbeing surveys, “Wellbeing Wednesday” articles 

iii) The Communications team proactively communicating with 
the public across all channels to advise them of service 
changes, raise awareness of changing national 
restrictions/guidelines and to promote public health 
messages 

iv) Daily email communication with staff and Members. 
- 3 Health and Safety Executive inspections of operating 

procedures and site visits. 
 

- A ‘hybrid’ approach to working will continue, meaning that 
the IT infrastructure, HR support and communications will 
need to continue to support home working for the vast 
majority of office-based staff.  However, there will be some 
infrastructure investment required in supporting a hybrid 
approach as both environments need to be supported 

- The regular establishments of the various partnership boards 
has strengthen relationships and understanding across local 
and regional partners – although the frequency of meetings 
will not continue the infrastructure and partnership approach 
will. 

- Attendance at LRF and public health meetings continue. 
- Business Continuity Plan refreshed 2022. 

- Ensuring robust emergency and business continuity 
planning is in place on an ongoing basis is essential 
as there were some areas where the emergency 
plan was not sufficient and required redrafting.  This 
now forms a key part of the annual assurance 
statement and will be regularly reported to 
Governance and Audit committee 

- Understanding the breadth of skills staff are able to 
offer is essential in an emergency as it enables 
redeployment, a skills database should be updated 
annually and added to when new starters join the 
organisation. 

East Midlands Building 
Control  

- First lockdown initially paused construction industry, impacting 
on EMBC volume of work 

- Initially furloughed 12 staff to reflect reduced workload due to 
lockdown.  Phased return as lockdown eased 

- Maintained throughout emergency response for dangerous 
structures and enquiries 

- Volume of applications increased towards the end of 2020 
and has continued into 2021 which saw an increase in income 
above forecast. 

 

- The model adopted and level of business 
intelligence was critical in evidencing the need for 
furlough and also the approach to a phased return. 

46



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

- The service implemented Covid-19 secure measures to support 
site visits. Some site inspections switched to alternatives such 
as evidence of progress e.g. photographs/video where 
appropriate. 
 

Public Protection - Government has published a huge range of guidance and 
legislation relating to coronavirus.  The Environmental Health 
team have been responsible for enforcing a wide range which 
has continually evolved at pace.  Digesting and interpreting at 
short notice to provide support and advice to businesses and 
the public.  

- Over 250 Covid-19 related service requests dealt with and 155 
covid related visits/inspections carried out by the team since 
the start of the pandemic.  

- Working with other agencies and partners to deliver a 
consistent and strong approach, including: 

i) Alongside InvestSK to enable businesses to open safely and 
in compliance with all relevant government regulations and 
guidance at every stage.  However there have been 
occasions where enforcement is required, resulting in the 
serving of 6 closure notices and 1 fixed penalty to non-
compliant premises 

ii) With other Lincolnshire Environmental Health and Trading 
Standards teams to shape policy and approach through LRF 
Engagement, Enforcement and Compliance Cell and 
Outbreak Management and Contact Tracing sub cell.      

iii) Sharing intelligence and enforcement roles at local, regional 
and national level with partner agencies such as the Health 
and Safety Executive (HSE), Government departments, 
Food Standards Agency, UK Health Protection Agency and 
other local authorities 

iv) Working with Lincolnshire Public Health and UK Health 
Security Agency to investigate and support outbreaks in 
workplaces and improve Covid-19 secure measures 

v) Advising and supporting events as restrictions eased, 
particularly around risk assessment and compliance with 
latest guidance. 

vi) Redeploying staff from the Arts Centres, utilising 
Government funding to create Covid-19 secure champions 
– delivering 150 visits to businesses to check on and 
improve compliance and using HSE resource to visit a 
further 77. 

- Developed and maintained an SKDC webpage for businesses, 
specific Covid-19 advice and links to documents.  Regular 
updates to food businesses and other sectors.  

- Partnering with the NHS in rolling out testing and vaccination 
capacity across the District, including 

i) Working with the NHS, opened the joint first Covid-19 
vaccination centre in Lincolnshire at Grantham Meres 
which issued its 250,000th jab in December – the largest in 

- There is an ongoing requirement for testing facilities that is 
likely to continue for at least the medium term, the site at 
Queen Elizabeth Park remains operational and is not 
anticipated to close. 

- There is potential for ongoing change in guidance and 
legislation for businesses and individuals and therefore it is 
essential that communication of, support to implement and 
enforcement are in place for the prevailing legislation. 

- Leading work on food business engagement through the 
vaccination programme to increase uptake. 

- The development of a joined up multi-agency 
response has been critical to the successful response 
from the Public Protection team and therefore 
priority should be given to continuing to develop 
and maintain these relationships outside of the 
emergency situation. 

47



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

Lincolnshire.  Overall approximately 320,000 Jabs issued in 
the District as of 1 February. 

ii) Testing sites across the District including mobile sites at 
Grantham Meres and St Martins Park and a walk-in PCR site 
at Queen Elizabeth Park. 

- Changes to licensing processes to support ongoing provision of 
services e.g.  to enable taxi drivers to continue to operate.  Also 
provided focused sector advice and face coverings though 
government scheme.  

- New licensing legislation (pavement licensing) implemented to 
support re-opening of businesses through easing of restrictions. 

 

    

Companies    

Invest SK Ltd - The impact on InvestSK as a company has been vast. The focus 
of the business and therefore its resources shifted to the 
administration of Government business grant schemes 
immediately after the initial restrictions and business support 
grants were announced. 

- Since then (March 2020) the continual periods of restrictions 
and lockdowns has meant the focus has remained almost 
exclusively on the administration of grants and providing key 
support to local businesses. 

- A new business plan was developed in September 2020 that 

reflected more closely the business activity and roles within the 

team. This business plan also identified a much tighter remit for 

delivery going forward and identified business support and 

regeneration of our towns as the primary function of the 

business. 

- In total since the first Government Covid 19 grant scheme was 

introduced £51,654,729 has been distributed to over 3,000 

South Kesteven businesses. This has involved the processing of 

over 10,400 individual transactions. 

- The impact on businesses has very much depended on their 

individual sectors. Retail, hospitality, leisure and tourism have 

clearly been the hardest hit sectors in the main due to the 

periods of lockdown. However the swift administration of 

grants has provided great support to these and very few have 

ceased operating. Indeed some growth areas in the more 

traditional trades has been apparent and overall the rich mix of 

sectors and our lack of reliance on specific large sectors has 

ensured a resilient economy throughout the pandemic. 

- Worked alongside Public Protection to support businesses in 

opening safely and inline with all relevant legislation and 

guidance. 

- Award of the Future High Street Fund (FHSF) of £5.56m 

- Delivery of Heritage Action Zone programme continued. 

- Success in restructuring team to focus on supporting local 

business. 

- The newly developed InvestSK business plan focuses much 

more closely on economic development and economic 

recovery, this is expected to continue whichever model is 

adopted 

- There has been a decline in the level of enquiries for 

employment space, both from existing businesses and 

prospective inward investors, which is a trajectory that is 

expected to continue, with many businesses adapting their 

model to working from home has meant a number of 

businesses who pre-pandemic were looking for office space 

no longer having that requirement 

- There has been an increase in enquiries for retail space and in 

particular from new start ups. 

- The Visitor Economy is a very much a priority sector for the 

District and within the InvestSK business plan. It is 

acknowledged that the sector has been hugely impacted 

during the pandemic and many of our tourism and hospitality 

businesses have articulated the ‘Covid impact’ on their 

business operation. 

- A lack of tradespeople and materials is having an impact on a 

number of projects either directly delivered or supported by 

InvestSK. The most notable of these being the Grantham High 

Street Heritage Action Zone project where delays are evident 

in the delivery of shop front improvements to heritage 

buildings in the town. Delays are also evident in the purchase 

of plant and machinery for businesses trying to diversify their 

offer post-pandemic. 

 

- During the pandemic the importance of working 
hand in hand with the finance and revenues and 
benefits teams has been exemplified – this is an 
approach that is now firmly embedded in InvestSKs 
business plan and working practices. 

48



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

 

  

Environment SK Ltd - Lockdown restrictions caused most private work to be 
cancelled/postponed immediately (e.g. marking of sports 
pitches) – began to recover in Summer 2020. 

- Significant supply chain issues due to shortage of timber and 
equipment, either led to delays or increased cost of works. 

- Some Environment SK Ltd staff were seconded to the Council to 
support the delivery of core services (e.g. waste collection). 

- New working practices were adopted to adopt social distancing 
measures (e.g. reduced number of people in vehicles), which 
impacted on efficiency. 

- Additional measures put in place to ensure health and safety 
around key sites (e.g. vaccination and testing centres Meres 
leisure centre and testing centres elsewhere) including 
additional gritting during the winter.  

- Increased cost of materials is ongoing causing additional costs 
to undertake works. 

- Workforce shortage has caused significant recruitment and 
retention issues, impacting on the ability to deliver roles. 

- EnvinromentSK Ltd as a small, standalone business 
has limited resilience and therefore is vulnerable to 
fluctuations in workforce availability with limited 
opportunity to mitigate the impact. 

Leisure SK Ltd - The first year of trading for LeisureSK Ltd has remained difficult 
due to the ongoing implications of Covid-19.  This has included 
an extended period of national lockdown, which began 
immediately after the formation of LeisureSK, when the leisure 
centres had to remain closed, and also ongoing restrictions on 
the activities undertaken and the participants able to take part 
once the facilities opened. 

- The longer term effects of the pandemic are also wide reaching 
in terms of customer behaviour.  Nationally fitness 
memberships are around 74% of pre-Covid levels, for LeisureSK 
Ltd this is currently 75%.  The challenge remains attracting new 
customers, but also re-engaging those who would previously 
had a membership,  but have switched to informal outdoor 
activities or are using on-line fitness content. 

- Some of the loss of income in the current financial year has 
been mitigated by a successful award from the National Leisure 
Recovery Fund in the sum of £320,527, this has been 
complemented by the receipt of additional sums from the small 
business grants which were administered by InvestSK.  Savings 
were also achieved from the reduced business rate liability as a 
result of the payment holiday and reduced liability which were 
introduced by Central Government. 

- Wherever possible employees were furloughed during the 
periods of closure and reduced activity levels, with a core of 
operational staff being retained to ensure that health and 
safety checks could still be undertaken.  Long periods of 
furlough did result in some staff leaving the organisation for 
alternative employment, however vacancies have been 
successfully recruited to when there has been a need. 

- The table tennis centre at Grantham Meres has been 
designated, and continues to operate, as one of the main 
vaccination centres for Lincolnshire.  This has been a 
tremendous asset in the fight against Coronovirus and has also 
generated income for LeisureSK when activities were limited. 

- Across the industry membership and usage has not recovered 
to the pre-pandemic levels due to a mixture of behaviour 
change and restrictions on class sizes.  Effort is being made to 
mitigate the ongoing impact of usage. 

- In addition LeisureSK will maintain its broader offer 
encompassing online, out of centre activities to engage 
people in positive physical activity. 

- New business plan has been developed to meet prevailing 
market conditions. 

- Work on the Deepings Leisure Centre refurbishment has 
continued, enabling a project to be recommended to Council 
on 14/12/2021. 

- Recruitment of Non-Executive Director for company was 
successful and impact has supported the recovery and future 
planning processes. 

- New onboarding arrangements established for 
employees to support the vision and culture is 
essential. 

- Standard operating procedures adopted early to 
enable safe reopening. 

- Early and regular communications with the wider 
team has been beneficial in ensuring that there is an 
informed and motivated team. 

49



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

- The main areas of income generation for LeisureSK Ltd remain 
fitness memberships and swimming lessons.  During the 
lockdown period LeisureSK Ltd successfully launched on-line 
fitness classes to continue to engage with customers and aid 
retention.  This, together with the development of outreach 
activities and healthy lifestyle programmes, will be an ongoing 
focus for the company. 

- For swimming lessons, numbers are currently 67% of pre-
pandemic levels.  This has been exacerbated by the temporary 
closure of Deepings Leisure Centre.  It is pleasing that 850 
pupils have been added to the scheme since this recommenced 
in April 2020.  In addition approximately 400 of the 600 pupils 
who previously swam at Deepings, have been accommodated 
at either Bourne or Stamford pools.  There is a significant 
waiting list for children to learn to swim, and it is hoped that as 
restrictions limiting the numbers in classes ease then the 
waiting list can be incorporated into the scheme.  This will also 
be dependent on the recruitment of swimming teachers and 
training courses have already been planned in this regard. 

 

Gravitas Housing Ltd - The pandemic and subsequent lockdown impacted nationally in 
March 2020 which was at the point the development was being 
actively marketed.  Therefore there was an immediate adverse 
impact as property sales slumped from March 2020 with a 
measured recovery from that time towards November 2020.    
However since that date, sales have picked up during 2021 and 
to date 21 of the 25 units have either sold or have reservations 
placed on them.   

 

- The development will continue to be marketed by 
professional agents until all units have been sold.  At the 
present time there are no further development projects 
proposed for Gravitas although this will be a matter for 
Companies Committee to consider at a future meeting. 

 

    

Staff Welfare - To support the immediate protection of staff 400 office based 
staff were rapidly relocated to working from home in March 
2020. 

- A staff survey was undertaken to establish any members of 
staff that were clinically extremely vulnerable or living with 
other people who were vulnerable to ensure that appropriate 
measures could be put in place. 

- SKDC operational buildings were adapted to ensure health and 
safety measures were in place and appropriate social 
mitigations adopted (endorsed after an inspection from the 
Health and Safety Executive). 

- Various measures put in place to support mental wellbeing, 
particularly with regards staff working in isolation, including: 
i) Supporting managers ensuring frequent 

communication with all team members 
ii) All teams undertaking regular (online) team meetings 
iii) Survey identifying mental/physical health issues to 

enable individual mitigations were put in place 
iv) Development of support and advice via “Wellbeing 

Wednesday” and “Fun Friday” emails 
v) Regular signposting to Employee Assistance Programme 

- Moving to an ongoing hybrid approach to future working, 
ensuring that appropriate distancing measures are in place 
but enabling all colleagues to return to the office c. 40% of the 
time 

- Continue to deepen investment in mental and physical health 
of staff, including: 
i) Mental health awareness training adopted as part of 

staff induction programme 
ii) Continued promotion of Mental Health First Aiders 

and Employee Assistance Programme 
iii) Rolling out further wellbeing support offers to 

employees, for example “Working Well With One You 
Lincolnshire” 

- Ongoing communication with all staff via the senior 
leadership team and other managers within the organisation 
to ensure that any team or individual issues are identified and 
mitigations are put in place. 

- During the various ‘phases’ of the pandemic the 
priorities around wellbeing have changed and may 
well continue to change during recovery.  Therefore 
it is essential that the Council continue to 
communicate with employees to ensure that the 
appropriate employee support is in place. 

50



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

vi) Work with the Mental Health Working Party to support 
the wellbeing of colleagues (including refreshing 
Mental Health First Aid training) 

- As restrictions eased and it become possible for more staff to 
return to the office those that identified a desire to be on site 
more frequently were supported in doing so (while maintaining 
social distancing). 

- Consulting with colleagues around plans to develop a hybrid 
approach to future working. 

Members and Decision 
Making 

Decision Making Meetings: 
 

- The Government passed legislation to make decision making 
meetings virtual in May 2020 for 12 months. 

- The Council rolled out technology to enable all meetings to take 
place on line and from April a full programme of meetings took 
place. 

- The provision for virtual meetings ended after 12 months so 
face to face decision making meetings, with appropriate social 
distancing were incorporated. 

- In most cases these meetings have taken place in the Council 
Chamber, however full Council has taken place at the Meres 
leisure centre, at a cost of approximately £5,000 per meeting. 

- It should also be noted that in instances where Covid has been 
particularly prevalent and the meeting was not time sensitive 
meetings have been postponed (e.g. Governance and Audit on 
22 December). 

- The Council has also invested in technology to enable meetings 
to be broadcast live via YouTube and remain available online, 
which has increased the opportunities for public engagement 
with meetings without the need for physical attendance. 

- Governance and decision making has continued and there has 
been no significant impact on this. 

- Regular risk assessments have been undertaken to ensure 
attendees are safe. 

 

Decision Making Meetings: 
 

- The Government has not stated any intention to re-introduce 
provision for virtual meetings and therefore the intention is to 
continue with face to face meetings and implement 
appropriate social distancing measures (e.g. limits on number 
of people attending). 

- However should the virtual meeting legislation be re-
introduced the Council would consider options to introduce 
hybrid meetings. 

- The investment in technology to enable meetings to be 
broadcast online live and available afterwards has been a 
good investment and the intention is to continue to utilise this 
and promote access online. 

- Paper copies of agendas and reports will need be refined to 
move towards a full electronic system. 

- Upgrade required in a the ventilation system to enable 
Members to return to the Council chamber safely. 

Decision Making Meetings: 
 

- The changes during the restrictions accelerated the 
need to invest in technology to make public 
meetings more accessible – the Council should 
continue to explore and invest in opportunities to 
promote these. 

- Regular communications with Members is key to 
support ongoing positive engagement with the 
Council. 

Civic Events: 
 

- Civic events were significantly limited by the restrictions, 
leading to a significant reduction in both number of events 
happening and people attending 

- The reintroduction of these events has been managed carefully 
to provide civic events but also ensure that appropriate health 
and safety measures are in place 

Civic Events: 
 

- The civic events programme will continue to be reintroduced 
in a ‘balanced’ way and ensuring that appropriate measures 
are in place to mitigate health and safety risks 

Civic Events: 
 

- The civic events programme should be developed in 
a way that enables it to be flexed in line with any 
restrictions and the prevalence of covid-19 in the 
population 

Member Wellbeing: 
 

- Members, like all other cohorts in the population, have faced 
significant changes to their lives over the past 24 months, which 
has had a consequential impact on wellbeing 

- The Chief Executive and the Corporate Management Team 
(CMT) have been particularly concerned about this and 
therefore implemented a number of measures to mitigate this, 

Member Wellbeing: 
 

- Supporting the positive wellbeing of Members remains a 
particular focus for the Council and the Employee Assistance 
Programme remains available to all Members. 

- The Mental Health Working Party also have a workstream 
focusing on the wellbeing of Staff and Members, with various 
support measures in place. 

Member Wellbeing: 
 

- Member Wellbeing should have been prioritised 
prior to the onset of Covid-19 and the principle has 
now been embedded that any wellbeing offer for 
employees will be mirrored for Members 

- CMT members and other senior officers are also 
encouraged to be aware of any particular concerns 

51



Appendix 1 – Covid Impact and Response 
 

 

including the extension of the Employee Assistance programme 
to Members and also CMT members contacting each Member 
during 2020 

- Members have also positively engaged with communities via 
the SK Community Hub and the Mental Health Working Party, 
which has had a consequential positive impact on them 

- The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
developed a survey to understand the impact on Members, 
which has been considered and approaches tailored 
appropriately 

- In addition regular liaison between the Chief Executive and 
Group Leaders to raise any concerns about any individual 
Members. 

- Meetings to continue at the Meres Leisure Centre in the short 
term. 

about individual Members and signpost them to 
appropriate support 

 

52



Appendix 2 – Financial Impact of Covid-19 

Covid-19 has had a number of direct and indirect adverse financial impacts on the Council finances 

particularly during 2020/21.  Members will recall that a complete revised budget framework was 

approved by Council in September 2020 as it was recognised that the budget framework that was 

only approved 6 months earlier was no longer fit for purpose.  The areas most affected were in 

relation to significant income losses which over the period of the pandemic is costed at nearly £2m.  

The Government recognised this and introduced an income losses scheme which, whilst not 

completely reimbursed local authorities enabled the Council to recoup £783k of the losses (39%). 

The Committee was regularly provided with finance reports during this period with finance impact 

reports presented to each Committee meeting during the whole period of 2020/21 which also 

provided information on the projected income losses and ongoing updates on the Government 

funding being received.  The Committee was also provided with a Finance Risk Register to provide 

members with information of the potential financial exposure and the actions being taken at the 

time to mitigate this. 

The table below sets out the main areas of impact which range from the direct income losses, 

additional unbudgeted costs such as PPE and also the financial consequences of re-allocating 

resources to deal with the Council’s response thus taking teams away of supporting the 

transformation agenda.  In total it is estimated that the overall impact was over £3m in 2020/21 and 

an estimated further £1.3m in 2021/22 (although accepting that this figure is still an estimation).  (It 

is accepted that it is not possible to accurately determine the overall impact as in any financial year 

there are always fluctuations and variances of expenditure and income and therefore it is difficult to 

determine which of the variances occurred are directly attributable to the period of the pandemic). 

There has been funding received in order to minimise the financial impact and the overall general 

funding support received (rather than specific funding that was received such as test and trace, 

business grants and household support fund) has been approximately £3.2m as identified in the 

table below.  The composition of the funding includes direct support to the leisure and cultural 

recovery (this funding was in response to applications made by the Council), income losses 

reimbursement (as referred to above) and general un-ringfenced support to support cost pressures 

and other indirect financial impacts.  In 2020/21 the Council received over £1.7m in one-off 

Government support. This funding contribution was not based on any specific information but based 

on a Government formula used across the sector. 

Cost/Income losses 

  

2020/21 

£’000 

2021/22 

£’000 

Govt Grants received – 

(Specific  or General) 

2020/21 

£’000 

2021/22 

£’000 

 

Income losses  1,043 888 

(forecast) 

Co-payment income 

losses Grant 

653 130 

Transformation savings 

not achieved 

170 

 

 

170 

 

 

Leisure Recovery Grant 321 0 

Unforeseen expenditure- 

PPE etc 

10 0 Cultural Recovery Grant 230 100 

53



Procurement savings not 

achieved 

188 188 Un-ringfenced  

Government support for 

Council   

1,793 0 

Conversion costs for 

homelessness 

accommodation 

13 0    

Leisure losses 429 0    

Culture losses 1,230 100    

TOTAL 3,083 1,346 TOTAL 2,997 230 

 

 

54



 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

22 February 2022 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  The Deputy Leader of the Council  

                                                 

 

 

Finance Update Report: April – December 2021 

To inform Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee of the Council’s forecast 2021/22 financial position as at the end of December 2021. 
The report covers the following areas:                                       
 

• General Fund Revenue Budget 

• Housing Revenue Account Budget 

• Capital Programmes – General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 

 

Report Author 

Claire Morgan (Senior Accountant) 

Tel: 01476 406051 

Email: Claire.morgan@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Administrative All Wards 
 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright (Head of Finance and ICT)  31 January 2022 

Approved by: Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance & S151 
Officer) 

1 February 2022  

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes (The Deputy Leader of the 
Council) 

3 February 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. The Finance Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 

- Review and note the forecast 2021/22 outturn position for the General Fund 
and HRA Revenue and Capital budgets as at the end of December 2021 and 
identify any variances that require further action or investigation. 

- Recommend any specific actions or interventions that should be considered   
in order to reduce the General Fund forecast deficit. 

 

55

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Claire.morgan@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 During the current financial year, the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 

Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee is being provided with regular finance reports 

that monitor and forecast the budget against the current economic conditions that are 

facing the Council. 

2 Revenue Budget 2021/22 – General Fund  

2.1 The budget set by Council on 1 March 2021 was £17.351m. The approval of budget carry 

forwards by Cabinet have increased the General Fund net cost of service budget to 

£19.702m which is shown at Table 1 below.  
 

Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Budget Amendments 
 

Date of 
Approval 

Revenue Budget amendment £’000 

  17,351 

May 2021 Leisure SK – Local Priorities Reserve 108 

June 2021 Regeneration Reserve 72 

July 2021 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards 1,847 

September 2021 Invest to Save 91 

October 2021 ICT Reserve 80 

October 2021 Climate Change 20 

October 2021 Maintenance Reserve 110 

November 2021 Local Priorities Reserve 23 

Total  19,702 
 

Table 2 shows a current forecast deficit as at 31 December 2021 of £528k.  The forecast 

deficit as at 31 July 2021 was reported as £1.022m and as at 30 September 2021 reported 

as £1.087m.  Therefore the forecast deficit as at 31 December 2021 is a significant 

improvement on the projected outturn and work will continue for the remainder of the 

financial year to reduce the projected deficit further.  The positive reduction in deficit 

forecast is as a result of in year vacancies in a number of service areas, improved car 

parking forecast income and additional reductions in expenditure from specific service 

areas (Arts and Culture, Markets, ICT, Community fund and premises running costs). 

• In year vacant posts within ICT, Human Resources, Revenues & Benefits, Growth 
Management, OD & Change, Arts Centres and Public Protection (offset against the 
salary vacancy factor) £218k 

• Car Park income forecast improvement £30k 

• Additional grant income received (Arts Council £20k) and further reduction in 
performers fees with current programming for the remainder of 2021/22 (£40k).  This 
offset in operational costs contributes towards the income reductions in the Arts. 

• Markets – alignment of staffing saving of £30k 

• ICT – reduced hardware costs during current working requirements 

• Community Fund – The budget carry forward approved for this programme has not 
been required for the three rounds completed in 2021/22.(£83k) 

• Utilities – Anticipated forecast reduction in running costs at both the Council Offices 
and South Kesteven House due to the hybrid staff working arrangements (£25k) 

56



 
 

• Vacant office space above Savoy cinema - Reduction in running costs of units whilst 
the operational space remains vacant (£47k) 

However, there are two significant budget variances that have adversely affected the 

forecast deficit position. 

• Planning fee income reduced by £110k due to a lower receipt of major applications 

• Workshop – A combination of increase in price and quantity of consumables, external 
and specialist repair work in particular on end-of-life vehicles has resulted in a current 
forecast overspend of £160k. It is proposed to fund these additional costs bet from the 
Waste reserve that was established to meet unforeseen financial pressures within the 
service.  This will be subject to a non-key decision report in due course. 

 

Table 2 – General Fund Forecast Outturn Position 

Description 

2021/22 
Original 
Budget 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

2021/22 
Forecast 

spend  

Forecast 
Variance  

Forecast 
Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

Commercial & 
Operations 

7,667 8,250 8,520 270 3.3% 

Corporate 7,053 7,545 7,797 252 3.3% 

Growth & Culture 5,211 5,604 5,607 3 0.1% 

Housing & Property 179 1,062 999 (63) (6.0%) 

HRA Recharge (2,759) (2,759) (2,759) 0 0.0% 

Net Cost of Service 17,351 19,702 20,164 462 2.3% 

Interest Payable and 
Receivable 

(100) (100) (100) 0  

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

296 296 136 (160)   

Revenue Contribution to 
Capital 

186 186 186 0  

      

Drainage Rates 746 746 742 (4)  

Depreciation (4,586) (4,586) (4,586) 0   

Net Budget 
Requirement 

13,893 16,244 16,542 298   

Funding and Resources:     

Council Tax (8,114) (8,114) (8,114) 0  

Government Grants (1,432) (1,432) (1,432) 0  

Retained Business 
Rates, S31 Grant, 
Pooling Gain & 
Renewable energy 

(3,808) (3,808) (3,808) 0  

57



 
 

New Homes Bonus (1,045) (1,045) (1,045) 0  

Collection Fund 
(Surplus)/Deficit 

51 51 51 0   

Co-payment losses 
contribution 

0 0 (130) (130)  

Total Funding  (14,348) (14,348) (14,478) (130)  

Transfers to/(from) 
earmarked reserves 

455 (1,896) (1,536) 360   

Net Budget Deficit 0 0 528 528   
 

2.2 The above net budget deficit includes a forecast for additional costs of £160k within the 

Commercial & Operations directorate which is proposed to be funded by a reserve 

movement from the Waste reserve. This would reduce the net budget deficit to £368k. 

 

Table 3 - General Fund Significant Income Streams 

 

Significant Income 
Original 
Budget 
£’000 

Current 
Budget 
£’000 

Forecast 
Outturn 
£’000 

Forecast 
Variance     
£’000 

Forecast 
Variance           

% 

1 Green Waste Collection (1,329) (1,329) (1,390) (61) (4.6%) 

2 Development Management (1,187) (1,187) (1,077) 110 9.3% 

3 Stamford Car Parks (976) (976) (841) 135 13.8% 

4 Stamford Arts Centre (749) (749) (670) 397 53.0% 

5 Building Control (650) (650) (352) (20) (3.1%) 

6 Commercial Waste (497) (624) (519) 105 16.8% 

7 Grantham Car Parks (499) (499) (347) 152 30.5% 

8 Investment Property (330) (330) (330) 0 0.0% 

9 Guildhall Arts Centre (319) (319) (264) 55 17.2% 

10 Licensing (291) (291) (272) 19 6.5% 

11 Land Charges (233) (233) (203) 30 12.9% 

12 Stamford Market (162) (162) (142) 20 12.3% 

13 Grantham Market (46) (46) (40) 6 12.9% 

14 Miscellaneous Property (39) (39) (39) 0 0.0% 

15 Bourne Market (19) (19) (20) (1) (5.3%) 

 NET TOTAL (7,326) (7,453) (6,506) 947 12.7% 

 Co-payment income losses 
scheme 

   (130)  

 TOTAL    817  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



 
 

 

Chart 1 – General Fund Significant Income Streams  

 
 

2.3 Table 3 and Chart 1 show the gross variance of significant income streams only, with a 

number of these having corresponding reduced expenditure which will result in an 

improved net position for the service areas. Appendix A provides these net positions for 

each of the service areas. 

2.4 Table 3 shows the total forecast variance for the key income areas and projects a 

significant variance of £947k which is reduced to £817k following the final co-payment 

losses scheme claim. 

2.5 Appendix A provides further details of the outturn revenue position for each Directorate 

along with variance comments. 

2.6 Members are provided with information relating to the positive savings being generated 

from the hybrid working arrangements that are in place across the Council.  This analysis 

has been updated and is shown at Table 4 below.  This remains under review but the 

summary of spend against budget for the first nine months of 2021/22 confirms that 

expenditure is below budgeted levels.    

 

Table 4 – Reduced expenditure resulting from current hybrid working 

Budget Heading Current 
Budget 
£’000 

Forecast 
Outturn 
£’000 

Forecast 
Variance     
£’000 

Business Travel Claims 101,250 80,350 (20,900) 

Printing 40,400 25,100 (15,300) 

Postage 170,100 128,400 (41,700) 

Advertising 63,200 35,900 (27,300) 

Utilities 538,450 508,900 (29,550) 

(1,600)(1,400)(1,200)(1,000)(800)(600)(400)(200)0

Green Waste Collection

Development Management

Stamford Car Parks

Stamford Arts Centre

Building Control

Commercial Waste

Grantham Car Parks

Investment Property

Guildhall Arts Centre

Licensing

Land Charges

Stamford Market

Grantham Market

Miscellaneous Property

Bourne Market

£'000

2021/22 Significant Income - Current Budget vs Forecast - as at 31 December 2021

Current Budget £'000 Forecast £’000

59



 
 

Total 913,400 778,650 (134,750) 
 

3 General Fund Capital Programme 2021/22 

The budget set by Council on 1 March 2021 for the 2021/22 General Fund Capital 

programme was £4.085m. Table 5 shows the summary of movements: 

Table 5 – General Fund Capital Programme Budget Amendments 

Date of 
Approval 

GF Budget amendments £’000 

  4,085 

November 2020 Strategic Land acquisition 3,063 

January 2021 Stamford Arts Centre – Fire Alarm 75 

March 2021 Decarbonisation Scheme 950 

May 2021 Additional Disabled Facilities Grant 2021/22 115 

July 2021 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards 436 

Total  8,724 
 

3.1 Table 6 summarises the General Fund Capital forecast outturn position as at 31 December 

2021.  

Table 6 – General Fund Capital Forecast Outturn Position 

Capital Scheme 

2021/22 
Original 
Budget 
 
£’000 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 
 
£’000 

2021/22 
Forecast 

spend 
 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 

 
 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 

 
 

% 

Commercial & Operations 2,362 6,712 5,088 (1,619) (24.1%) 

Corporate  50 50 50 0 0.0% 

Growth & Culture 1,673 1,363 335 (1,028) (75.4%) 

Housing & Property 0 599 348 (251) (41.9%) 

Total Expenditure 4,085 8,724 5,821 (2,898) (33.2%) 
 

3.2 Table 7 shows the significant forecast variances for the General Fund capital schemes for 

2021/22 as at 31 December 2021: 

Table 7 – General Fund Capital – Significant Variances 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Disabled Facilities Grant  

Recommendations continue to be received and forecast is in line with current 
work in progress and commitments. There have been 59 successful 
applications in 2021/22. 

(228) 

Welham Street Car Park Refurbishment 

Scheme under review – revised scheme for 2022/23. 

(390) 

Deepings LC - All Weather Pitch  

Football Foundation grant application now postponed until 2022/23.  Budget 
carry forward to be requested. 

(700) 

60



 
 

Decarbonisation Scheme 

Project unable to be completed within timescales of grant provider. Unspent 
award to be returned to Salix. 

(933) 

Heritage Action Zone 

Delays in establishing property grant scheme. 

(138) 

Shop Front Scheme 

Eligible schemes are being funded through the Heritage Action Zone grant 
during 2021/22. 

(125) 

Arts Centre Refurbishments 

Full expenditure anticipated but completion of the project expected in 2022/23. 

(270) 

 

3.3 COVID Recovery Reserve - £1.249m 

 It has been agreed that the Covid reserve should be used to fund the deficit however the 

impact should be minimised in order to utilise the balance of the COVID reserve to 

replenish other revenue reserves that are coming under pressure from budget demands. 

 

4 Revenue Budget 2021/22 – Housing Revenue Account 

The budget set by Council on 1 March 2021 for the 2021/22 HRA Revenue Budget was 

£5.435m. The budgeted surplus is fully utilised to fund future investment in stock growth 

and property maintenance. Table 8 shows the summary of movements: 
 

 

 

 

Table 8 – HRA Revenue Budget Amendments 

Date of 
Approval 

HRA Budget amendments £’000 

  (5,435) 

July 2021 2020/21 Budget carry forwards 1,720 

Total  (3,715) 
 

4.1 Table 9 shows the HRA forecast outturn position for 2021/22 as at 31 December 2021. 

Table 9 – HRA Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 

Description 

2021/22 
Original 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2021/22 
Forecast 

spend 
 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 

 
 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 
% 

Income (25,734) (25,734) (24,820) 914 3.5%  

Expenditure 18,018 19,738 20,198 460 2.3%  

Net Cost of HRA Services (7,716) (5,996) (4,622) 1,374 22.9%  

Interest Payable and Similar 
Charges 

2,433 2,433 2,433 0  

Interest and Investment 
Income 

(152) (152) (152) 0  

Surplus for the year (5,435) (3,715) (2,341) 1,374  

61



 
 

 

4.2 Appendix B provides detail of the current HRA Revenue position along with variance 

comments. 
 

5 HRA Capital Programme 2021/22 

The budget set by Council on 1 March 2021 for the 2021/22 HRA Capital programme was 

£22.716m. Table 10 shows the summary of movements: 

Table 10 – HRA Capital Programme Budget Amendments 

Date of 
Approval 

HRA Budget amendments £’000 

  22,716 

May 2021 Heating & Ventilation – Green Homes Grant 926 

July 2021 2020/21 Budget Carry Forwards 174 

Total  23,816 

 

5.1 Table 11 summarises the HRA Capital forecast outturn position as at 31 December 2021.  

Table 11 – HRA Capital Forecast Outturn Position 

Capital Scheme 

2021/22 
Original 
Budget 

 
 

£’000 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

 
 

£’000 

2021/22 
Forecast 

spend 
 
 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 

 
 
 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 
% 

Energy Efficiency Initiatives 4,340          5,266 3,250 (2,016)  (38.2%) 

ICT 720 720 50 (670) (93.1%) 

Repairs Vehicles 248 248 142 (106) (42.7%) 

New Build Programme 11,165 11,165 2,400 (8,325) (74.6%) 

Refurbishment and Improvement 6,243 6,417    4,264 (2,593) (40.4%) 

Total Expenditure 22,716     23,816 10,106 (13,710) (57.6%) 
 

The table above shows a further reduction in forecast spend of £2.340m from £12.446m 

since October, with changes to the following programmes as agreed with the Head of 

Technical Services 

- Heating and Ventilation scheme    (£526k)  

- Replacement door scheme  (£1,088k) 

- Fencing scheme       (£320k) 

- New Build programme      (£200k) 

5.2 Table 12 shows the significant forecast variances for the HRA capital schemes for 2021/22 

as at 31 December 2021. 

Table 12 – HRA Capital – Significant Variances 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Heating & Ventilation 

The planned installations have been delayed by issues with contract delivery. 
An additional provider is progressing installations further. 

(2,016) 

62



 
 

Housing System Enhancements 

The newly appointed assistant director is now completing market testing. It is 
anticipated that the project will be delivered in 2022/23 

(640) 

Repairs Vehicles 

HRA vehicle strategy is under review.  

(106) 

Communal Rooms 

Awaiting fire precautions review- delivery likely to be 2022/23. 

(130) 

Replacement Door Programme 

Procurement of contractor delayed. 

(1,288) 

Housing Growth 

Reprofiling of the Housing Growth as per the detailed summary provided to the 
Committee on 7 September 2021. 

(8,325) 

Kitchens & Bathrooms Programme 

Continuing covid restrictions have caused a delay in the programme. 

(370) 

Passenger Lifts, Supported Housing 

Two schemes will be completed during 2021/22 with the remaining programme 
completed in 2022/23. 

(325) 

Fencing 

Material and labour shortages.  Full review of scheme being undertaken in the 
light of asset management strategy 

(320) 

Door Entry System 

Programme will now be completed during 2021/22. 

(160) 

 

6 Collection Rates 

6.1 The benchmarking of collection rates is undertaken on a monthly basis with Lincolnshire 

partners and there is a consistent profile with respect to overall performance. 

Table 13 – Collection Rates 

Target Information  Council Tax Business Rates HRA Dwelling 
Rents 
 

Annual collection 
rate 

Target 98.68% Target 99.16% 
 

Target 98.50% 

Target Collection rate 
to end of December 
2021 

83.83% 80.90% 73.01% 

Actual collection rate 
to end of December 
2021 

83.94% 79.89% 72.13% 

 

7 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

7.1 Budget monitoring reports have been presented to the Finance, Economic Development 

and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 20 July, 7 September and 3 

December 2021. The Committee requested that regular reports be presented at each 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting to ensure members were kept fully updated on 

the changing situation. 

63



 
 

8 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

8.1 Committee Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the Authority, as 

effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line 

with the budget and are targeted towards the Council's priorities. Monitoring enables the 

early identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action. 

8.2 This report provides an overview of the forecast 2021/22 financial position for the Council 

and focuses on the position as at the end of December 2021. 

9 Financial Implications  

9.1 These are included in the report and supporting appendices. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

10 Legal and Governance Implications  

10.1 As part of good governance, it is important members are kept updated in respect of the 

financial position of the Council expenditure during the year. 

Legal Implications reviewed by:  Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer  

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

11.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report. 

12   Risk and Mitigation 

12.1 A risk register is attached at Appendix C and shows that all known current risks are 

recognised and associated mitigating actions are in place. 

13 Community Safety Implications  

13.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report. 

14 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

 Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

14.1 The report has a neutral carbon impact. 

15 Background Papers 

15.1 Determination of Budget 2021/22 and indicative budgets to 2023/24 – General Fund, 

Revenue Account and associated Capital Programmes Report 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29198/Budget%20Proposals%20for

%20202122%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202223%20and%20202324.pdf 

15.2 Provisional Outturn Position 2020/21 report 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30264/Outturn%20Position%20report

%20202021.pdf 

15.3 Finance Update Report– April to May 2021 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30469/Finance%20Update%20Repor

t%20April%20-%20May%202021.pdf 

15.4 Finance Update Report- April to July 2021 

64

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29198/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202122%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202223%20and%20202324.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29198/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202122%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202223%20and%20202324.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30264/Outturn%20Position%20report%20202021.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30264/Outturn%20Position%20report%20202021.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30469/Finance%20Update%20Report%20April%20-%20May%202021.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30469/Finance%20Update%20Report%20April%20-%20May%202021.pdf


 
 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30699/Finance%20Update%20Repor

t.pdf 

15.5 Finance Update Report – April to September 2021 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31483/Finance%20Update%20Repor

t%20April%20-%20September%202021.pdf 

 

16 Appendices 

16.1 Appendix A – 2021/22 General Fund Significant Variance Analysis 

16.2 Appendix B – 2021/22 HRA Revenue Summary - Forecast Outturn 

16.3 Appendix C – 2021/22 Finance Risk Register 

 

 

65

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30699/Finance%20Update%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30699/Finance%20Update%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31483/Finance%20Update%20Report%20April%20-%20September%202021.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31483/Finance%20Update%20Report%20April%20-%20September%202021.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

2021/22 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis 

 

Commercial & Operations 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget  

2021/22 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Building Control 937,201 (833,885) 103,316 73,080 (30,236) (29.3%) 

Commercial & 
Operations  

273,765 0 273,765 264,750 (9,015) (3.3%) 

Community 
Resilience 

103,959 0 103,959 106,700 2,741 2.6% 

Corporate 
Operations 

4,365,248 (2,121,743) 2,243,505 2,417,855 174,350 7.8% 

Public Protection 1,733,726 (639,850) 1,093,876 1,089,350 (4,526) (0.4%) 

Street Scene 6,521,010 (2,089,395) 4,431,615 4,568,265 136,650 3.0% 

Total 13,934,909 (5,684,873) 8,250,036 8,520,000 269,964 3.3% 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Corporate Operations 

Car parking – Current income levels compared to 2019/20 are 60% for Grantham 
and 85% for Stamford car parks, with occupancy rates still being impacted. Forecast 
income for December to March has been included at 60% for Grantham and 90% for 
Stamford, resulting in a total loss of income of £287k in year. This will partly be 
funded by the final co-losses income compensation scheme claim. 

Markets -The use of casual staff at both Grantham and Stamford market has been 
reviewed and resources have been realigned to create efficiency savings of (£31k). 

Community Fund – The budget carry forward approved for this programme has not 
been required for the three rounds completed in 2021/22.(£83k) 

Utilities – Anticipated forecast reduction in costs due to lower electricity and gas 
usage at both the Council Offices and South Kesteven House as the majority of staff 
continue to work from home (£25k) 

174 

Public Protection 

A reduction in taxi licensing income of £20k is expected due to Covid-19.  Currently 
licence applications for hackney licences have reduced by 20% for drivers and 10% 
for vehicles as there has been less demand for this service during restrictions. 

Various in year vacancies have resulted in an underspend of (£41k).  

(5) 

Street Scene 

Commercial Waste – The service continues to grow with additional annual sales 
value being achieved but not at the budgeted level. This is partially offset by the 
costs not incurred of servicing the budgeted level of new customers e.g disposal 
costs 

137 

67



Green Waste Collection – Additional income of (£59k) has been received with the 
service closed on 30 November for new customers for 2021/22. 30,481 households 
renewing their subscription for 2021/22 (29,641 in 2020/21) and 1,304 new 
households joining the service. 95.5% of these households made their payment 
online with 70.5% paying by direct debit. 

Workshop – A combination of increase in price and quantity of consumables, 
external and specialist repair work in particular on end-of-life vehicles, in particular 
the food waste vehicle for £49k, has resulted in a forecast overspend of £160k. 
Further forecasting work is being undertaken in the service area and it is proposed 
this additional spend is funded by the Waste reserve. 

 

 

 

Corporate 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget  

2021/22 
 Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Centralised & 
Business 
Support 

488,800 (3,200) 485,600 418,700 (66,900) (13.8%) 

Communications 256,100 (4,300) 251,800 243,000 (8,800) (3.5%) 

Corporate 1,609,462 (67,500) 1,541,962 1,952,100 410,138 26.6% 

Finance 1,310,700 (93,550) 1,217,150 1,257,950 40,800 3.4% 

Human 
Resources 

290,600 (5,800) 284,800 230,400 (54,400) (19.1%) 

ICT Services 2,061,658 (93,350) 1,968,308 1,788,690 (179,618) (9.1%) 

Legal & 
Democratic 

2,061,350 (545,600) 1,380,750 1,401,800 21,050 1.5% 

OD & Change 534,224 (33,000) 501,224 625,250 124,026 24.7% 

Revenues & 
Benefits 

20,330,674 (20,417,200) (86,526) (120,726) (34,200) 39.5% 

TOTAL 28,808,568 (21,263,500) 7,545,068 7,797,164 252,096 3.3% 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Centralised & Business Support 

Continuing reductions in postage, printing and advertising requirements during this 
year has resulted in a forecast under spend of (£68k). New ways of working have 
been incorporated into the budget setting process for 2022/23. 

(68) 
 
 
 
 

Corporate   

Procurement savings continue to be reviewed during the year although it is unlikely 

410 

68



that additional budgeted savings of £188k are achievable in 2021/22.  

Employee efficiencies of £300k are unlikely to be achieved during the year. 

HR 

In year vacancies has resulted in a forecast underspend of (£63k)  

(54) 

ICT 

As hybrid working arrangements and restrictions on working from home continue, 

additional hardware requirements in the offices have been postponed. A reserve 

movement to the ICT reserve will no longer be required in 2021/22, providing funding 

in future years. (£70k) 

In year vacancies have resulted in a forecast underspend of (£93k). Permanent 

recruitment is underway. 

(180) 

Legal & Democratic 

Land Charges – The total of local searches has now reached pre Covid-19 levels 

although the split between chargeable full searches and non- chargeable personal 

searches has increased by 5% to 62% resulting in a forecast reduction in income of 

£30k. 

21 

OD & Change 

Process automation projects are currently being reviewed so is unlikely to achieve 

savings of £170k in 2021/22. 

Reduced requirement and availability of training courses has resulted in a forecast 

under spend of (£45k) 

124 

Revenues & Benefits 

In year vacancies of Revenues and Benefits officers has resulted in a forecast 

underspend of (£48k). Permanent recruitment has been undertaken. 

(34) 

 

 

 

Growth & Culture 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget  

2021/22 
 Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Arts & Culture 2,927,220 (1,266,050) 1,661,170 1,601,860 (59,310) (3.6%) 

Development & 
Policy 

1,538,748 (1,408,100) 130,648 297,248 166,600 127.5% 

Growth 
Management 

551,871 (293,663) 258,208 111,463 (146,745) (56.8%) 

69



Invest SK 370,000 0 370,000 370,000 0 0.0% 

Leisure 3,394,100 (210,350) 3,183,750 3,226,384 42,634 1.3% 

Total 8,781,939 (3,178,163) 5,603,776 5,606,955 3,179 0.1% 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Arts Centres 

An additional successful Cultural Recovery grant application award of (£100k) will be 
utilised to partially support the phased reopening of the venues as they offer a reduced 
programme during 2021/22. In year vacancies across a number of posts (£94k) and a 
forecast reduction of spend on District festivals of (£146k), the above grant and job 
retention scheme claims of £50k to the end of September when the scheme ceased 
has achieved a balanced position for the year.  

(59) 

Development & Policy 
There has been a reduced number of major planning application throughout the year 

which typically have significant planning application fees, resulting in an income 

forecast reduction of £110k. The number of non-major applications have remained 

consistent with previous years. 

Planning Performance Agreements (PPA) - Predicted income to ensure cost recovery 

has been reduced by £35k to reflect the reduced number of PPAs received compared 

to budgeted. There is increased monitoring to ensure the income received reflects the 

total cost to the Council, especially where external consultants have been utilised and 

costs ending up higher than originally anticipated. 

167 

Growth Management 

In year vacancies have resulted in a forecast under spend of (£100k) 

Vacant office space - Reduction in running costs of units whilst they remain vacant 
(£47k) 

(146) 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing & Property 

Service 
Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget  

2021/22 
 Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Assets & 
Estates 

1,645,131 (1,150,150) 494,981 405,300 (89,681) (18.1%) 

Housing 1,232,750 (665,251) 567,499 593,399 25,900 4.6% 

TOTAL 2,877,881 (1,815,401) 1,062,480 998,699 (63,781) (6.0%) 
 
 

70



Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Assets & Estates 

Reduction in running costs of St Martin’s Park during the master planning of this project 
has resulted in a forecast reduction of (£114k). This is offset by a reduced reserve 
movement  from the Regeneration reserve. 

(90) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 
 

Housing Revenue Account Summary 2021/22  

 

Description 
2021/22 
Original 
Budget 

2021/22 
Current 
Budget 

2021/22 
Forecast 

spend 

Forecast 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Income         

Dwelling Rents (24,627) (24,627) (23,777) 850 

Non-Dwelling Rents (341) (341) (341) 0 

Charges for Services 
and Facilities 

(700) (700) (636) 64 

Other Income (66) (66) (66) 0 

Total Income (25,734) (25,734) (24,820) 914 

          

Expenditure         

Repairs and 
Maintenance 

7,508   8,936   9,264   328  

Supervision and 
Management - General 

1,907   2,059   2,214  155  

Supervision and 
Management - Special 

1,385   1,525   1,502  (23)  

Depreciation and 
Impairment of Fixed 
Assets 

3,717   3,717   3,717   0    

Debt Management 
Expenses 

 35   35   35   0   

Provision for bad debts  383   383   383   0    

Other Expenditure 
(Pension Deficit) 

 324   324   324   0  

Support recharge from 
General Fund 

 2,759   2,759   2,759   0    

 Total Expenditure  18,018   19,738   20,198  460  
     

Net Cost of HRA 
Services 

(7,716) (5,996) (4,622) 1,374  

Interest Payable and 
Similar Charges 

 2,433   2,433   2,433  0  

Interest and Investment 
Income 

(152) (152) (152)  0  

     

Surplus for the year (5,435) (3,715) (2,341) 1,374  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

73



 

 

Explanation of significant variances £’000 

Dwelling rents: 

Reduction in income of £140k as a reduced number of new build properties 
are expected to be completed this year. 

Ongoing challenges with respect of dwelling rent income and a prudent 
forecast has been projected at £500k 

Increase in write offs due to non-collection of rent of £100k.  The write off 
level is in line with the current bad debt provision level that is set in the HRA 
financial business plan. 

Void rates are higher than budgeted due to restrictions on moving 
residence during lockdown.  Currently at 1.9% (budgeted at 1.5%) resulting 
in a forecast shortfall of £91k in rents. 

 

850 

 

Charges for Services and Facilities: 

Due to the closure of the communal rooms within the sheltered 
accommodation properties during lockdown, charges to residents and room 
hire income has  reduced by £60k. These facilities are now operational.  

 

64 

 

 

Repairs & Maintenance: 
A reduction in capital scheme delivery has resulted in a reduction in 
capitalised salaries rechargeable of £235k together with a number of 
minor variances within repairs and maintenance. 

 

328 

 

Supervision & Management – General: 
Agency costs have been incurred during the year whilst permanent 
recruitment has been undertaken for a number of roles. These costs have 
been funded by in year vacancies across the directorate. 

 

155 

Supervision & Management – Special: 

Due to the closure of the communal rooms within the sheltered 
accommodation properties during lockdown, heating costs have been 
reduced. 

 

(23) 

 

 

 
 

74



Appendix C 

Finance Risk Register 

 

Risk Likelihood Impact Mitigating Action 

Changes to Government funding formula 

methodology and Business Rate 

reset/changes 

High High 

 

Proactively participate in consultation with Government 

Receive provisional information and share with members supported by 

financial modelling  

Continuation of low interest rates Low Medium 
Market advice and forecasting.  Mitigation by diversification of investments 

across varied financial institutions in line with Investment Strategy 

Capital programmes requiring borrowing in 

the medium term  
High High 

Continue to undertake financial modelling to identify consequences of 

undertaking borrowing and align this with savings and transformation 

programmes to ensure financial sustainability   

Lack of clarity for funding levels beyond 22/23 

spending review 
High Medium 

Prudent budget set to provide best estimate. Transitional arrangements 

have been applied in similar previous changes to funding arrangements 

and it is widely expected that similar arrangements will be introduced. 

Fluctuation in business rates High High This continues to be an area of high volatility as national reliefs are 

introduced resulting in reducing the amount to be collected, the re-issuing 

of bills and changes to the recovery process.  The economic impact of the 

pandemic is yet to be fully determined which may have an adverse impact 

on the business rate base.  Monthly reviews are in place to assess any 

adverse impact on the collectible amount  

Additional bad debts as a result of economic 

circumstances 
Medium Medium The Council has pro-active debt management and pre-pay fee policies. 

75



Increased maintenance costs of ageing 

physical assets 
Medium Medium 

The budget proposals for 2022/23 propose a significant increase in the 

maintenance budgets for both leisure centres (£150k pa) and one-off back 

log of £400k  

Inflation rises by more than budgeted 

projections 
Medium Medium Budget assumptions kept up to date with most recent projections. 

Fee Income volatility Medium High 
Early monitoring of deviations and regular reporting to both budget holders 

and members 

Ongoing and continued COVID-19 Response Medium Medium 
Regular financial monitoring, use of reserves if required, promoting growth 

plans and supporting the community 

Inadequate capital resources to finance future 

desired plans 
Medium High 

Asset disposal programme approved and pipeline of asset disposal in 

progress in order to generate capital receipts  

Forecast expenditure fluctuations over the 
coming months   

Low Medium  Engagement in consultation and policy creation 

 

 

76



Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme 2021 - 2022 

 
Committee Membership: 9 

Chairman: Councillor Graham Jeal 

Vice Chairman: Councillor Mark Whittington 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
CORPORATE 

PRIORITY 

3 May 2022 

Future High Street 
Funding 

The Committee to be kept informed 
of progress. 
 
Lead Officer: Alex Ward 
 

To receive an update on 
progress with the Grantham 
Future High Street Fund 
programme. 
 

 Growth and the 
Economy 

 
Options for use of 
the vacant premises 
at Grantham 
Cinema complex 

 
A report on the potential use for the  
Vacant premises at the Grantham 
Cinema Complex: 
 
Lead Officer:   
 

  
 

 
Growth and the 
Economy 

Transformation and 
Change 

A report to include 
changes/savings in areas of invest 
to save including Revenue and 
Capital. 
Lead Officer: 
 
Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
 

 
To receive a report on what 
has been achieved over the 
last year within the District  

 Growth and the 
economy 

77

A
genda Item

 10



 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
CORPORATE 

PRIORITY 

 
Future Meetings 2022 

 
 
Housing Capital 
Expenditure/Stock 
Condition Survey 
 
 
 
 

 
For the Committee to receive a 
report on how Housing Capital 
Expenditure is project planned for 
future years. 
 
Lead Officer: 
Andrew Cotton 

  
Requested by Chairman 
for July meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
Housing that meets 
the needs of all 
residents 

Grantham Town 
Centre 

Continuation of Joint Scrutiny of 
Grantham Town Centre - 
Consideration of business 
occupancy rates in Grantham, and 
business survival rates, with 
additional consideration to post 
COVID-19 recovery and the 
changing face of the high street. 
 
Lead Officer: 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of 
Growth and Culture) 
 

  
Requested by Chairman 
for meeting in early 
2023. 

Growth and the 
economy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

78



 
 

 
Unscheduled items 

Report title Issue Originated Corporate Priority 

Analysis of the Lessons 
learned and cost savings 
from the 15/18 months of 
the Pandemic 

For the Committee to receive a report that 
provides analysis of the lessons learned and the 
cost savings during the 15/18 months of the 
pandemic.  
 
Lead Officer: 
TBC 

 Growth and the 
economy 

IT Investment Road Map 
Plan 

Lead Officer: 
Gary Andrew (IT Manager) 
 

 A high performing 
Council 

 

The Committee’s Remit 
 

The remit of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet 
Members to assist with the development of policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 
 

• Business rate relief 

• Business transformation 

• Car parks, bus stations and town centre infrastructure 

• Charitable rate relief 

• Council-owned property, assets and maintenance (non-
council house) 

• Large-scale development projects 

• Shop front designs and funding 

• Street furniture 

• Street parking permits 

• Town centre developments and partnerships 

• Budget monitoring 

• Review of outturn 

• Fees and charges 

• Budget setting 

• Medium term financial planning and national funding 
proposals 

• Performance reporting 

• Data protection policy 

• Customer access strategy 

 

79



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action notes of the meeting held on 3 December 2021
	5 Action notes from Joint Scrutiny - Deepings Leisure Centre on 30 November 2021
	Minutes

	7 The Post-Brexit South Kesteven Economic Climate
	8 The Impact of Covid-19 on South Kesteven
	Appendix 1  Covid Impact and Responses
	Appendix 2  Financial Impact of Covid 19

	9 Finance Monitoring Update - April to December 2021
	Appendix A 2021 - 22  General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis
	Appendix B 2021 - 22  HRA Revenue Summary - Forecast Outturn
	Appendix C 2021 - 22  Finance Risk Register

	10 Work Programme 2021 - 2022

